

LUND UNIVERSITY

Physical activity and Mobile Health among people with hip and knee osteoarthritis

Östlind, Elin

2022

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Östlind, E. (2022). *Physical activity and Mobile Health among people with hip and knee osteoarthritis.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Health Sciences]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Physical activity and Mobile Health among people with hip and knee osteoarthritis

ELIN ÖSTLIND DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SCIENCES | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Physical activity and Mobile Health among people with hip and knee osteoarthritis

Elin Östlind



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Health Sciences Centre, Margaretavägen 1B, Lund. September 30, 2022, at 9.00 am.

> *Faculty opponent* Associate Professor Allan Abbott

Organization	Document name		
LUND UNIVERSITY	Doctoral Dissertation	Doctoral Dissertation	
	Date of issue		
	September 30, 2022		
Author Elin Östlind	Sponsoring organization		
Title and subtitle			
Physical activity and Mobile Health am	nong people with hip and knee osteoart	hritis	
Abstract			
Introduction Hip and knee osteoarthritis (OA) is a highly prevalent condition with a substantial impact on work ability and health. Physical activity (PA) is a part of the core treatment in OA, but many individuals are insufficiently active. Mobile Health (mHealth) and wearable activity trackers (WATs) have been shown to increase PA but knowledge on their effect on work ability and other health outcomes in OA is lacking. The overall aim of this thesis was to obtain knowledge of the impact of mHealth and PA on work ability, health, and molecular biomarkers and to explore experiences of mHealth in individuals of working age with hip and knee OA.			
Methods Individuals of working age with hip and knee OA (n =160) were included in a cluster-randomised controlled trial (C-RCT). All individuals participated in a Supported Osteoarthritis Self-management Program (SOASP) and were randomised to either a control or intervention group. The intervention was an add-on to the SOASP and consisted of self-monitoring PA with a WAT for 12 weeks. Participants in the control group only took part in the SOASP. Online questionnaires about work ability, PA, work productivity and joint function were filled out at baseline and after three, six and twelve months. WAT-data for the intervention group was retrieved and molecular biomarkers were collected at baseline and after three months in a subsample from both groups (n =91). Three focus group discussions were conducted with a subsample of individuals (n =18) from the intervention group.			
Results Participants in the intervention group had high levels of objectively measured PA and adherence to WAT use although there was a slight decrease over the 12 week study period. No differences were found between the groups in the C-RCT regarding change over time in work ability, PA, or work productivity. No or only weak associations were found between PA, joint function, and molecular biomarkers. In focus group discussions, WATs were experienced as facilitating PA but opinions also emerged noting that WATs could be discouraging. mHealth was seen as an appreciated part of OA care and several important features were highlighted.			
Conclusion The participants included in this project already had good work ability, were highly physically active, and probably had a greater interest in mHealth than the general OA population. This might have reduced the possibility of seeing an effect in the intervention. However, high adherence to the WATs and the participants' experiences noting that WATs facilitated and aided in optimizing PA levels indicate that they could be beneficial for this population. Participants' experiences and perceptions of mHealth nOA care could be useful when designing future hybrid OA care. Lastly, although no or only weak associations between PA, joint function and molecular biomarkers were found, there were study limitations that could have affected the results and we therefore suggest that additional research might be needed.			
Key words osteoarthritis, hip, knee, Mobile Health, physical activity, wearable activity tracker,molecular biomarkers			
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English	
ISSN 1652-8220 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine D	octoral Dissertation Series 2022:125	ISBN 978-91-8021-287-8	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 87	Price	
	Security classification	I	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature Cha Autoria

Date 2022-08-19

Physical activity and Mobile Health among people with hip and knee osteoarthritis

Elin Östlind



Cover illustration by Sofie Lindqvist

Cover photo (back): Christoffer Östlind

Copyright pp 1-87 Elin Östlind

Paper 1 \bigcirc by the Authors. Published in BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders (open access)

Paper 2 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ by the Authors. Published in BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders (open access)

Paper 3 © by the Authors (manuscript unpublished)

Paper 4 © by the Authors. Clinical Medical Insights: Arthritis and Musculoskeletal Disorders (open access)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Health Sciences

ISBN 978-91-8021-287-8 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2022



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



To my family.

Some journeys take us far from home. Some adventures lead us to our destiny.

C.S Lewis, The Lion, the Witch and the Wardrobe

Table of Contents

Abstract	8
Svensk sammanfattning	9
Thesis at a glance	11
Abbreviations	12
List of papers	14
Descriptions of contributions	15
Preface	16
Context of this thesis	16
Introduction	17
Hip and knee osteoarthritis	17
Pathogenesis	17
Prevalence and burden of disease	22
Impact on health and work ability	23
Comorbidities	25
Treatment	26
Physical activity	28
Definitions and concepts	28
Physiological effects of physical activity	29
Physical activity in hip and knee osteoarthritis	30
Benefits and recommendations	30
Physical activity levels in individuals with osteoarthritis	
Behavioural strategies to promote physical activity	
Mobile Health and activity monitoring	32
Wearable activity trackers	
Rationale	35
Aims	
The overall aim	
Specific aims of the four studies	
Methods	
Setting	
	• ·

Study design and timeline
Participants and recruitment
Randomisation41
Intervention42
Data collection and outcomes44
Study I
Study II
Study III
Analysis Activity 17
Analyses
Studies Fand III
Study IV
Ethical considerations
Ethical approval
Results
Studies I and II. Physical activity levels and the effects of using an activity
tracker
Study III: Experiences and perceptions of Mobile Health and activity tracker use
Study IV: Associations of physical activity and molecular biomarkers56
Discussion
Main findings 58
Physical activity and work ability in hip and knee osteoarthritis
Mobile Health and activity monitoring60
Physical activity and molecular biomarkers62
Methodological considerations62
Conclusion
Clinical implications
Future perspectives
Acknowledgements
References71

Abstract

Introduction Hip and knee osteoarthritis (OA) is a highly prevalent condition with a substantial impact on work ability and health. Physical activity (PA) is a part of the core treatment in OA, but many individuals are insufficiently active. Mobile Health (mHealth) and wearable activity trackers (WATs) have been shown to increase PA but knowledge on their effect on work ability and other health outcomes in OA is lacking. The overall aim of this thesis was to obtain knowledge of the impact of mHealth and PA on work ability, health, and molecular biomarkers and to explore experiences of mHealth in individuals of working age with hip and knee OA.

Methods Individuals of working age with hip and knee OA (n = 160) were included in a cluster-randomised controlled trial (C-RCT). All individuals participated in a Supported Osteoarthritis Self-management Program (SOASP) and were randomised to either a control or intervention group. The intervention was an add-on to the SOASP and consisted of self-monitoring PA with a WAT for 12 weeks. Participants in the control group only took part in the SOASP. Online questionnaires about work ability, PA, work productivity and joint function were filled out at baseline and after three, six and twelve months. WAT-data for the intervention group was retrieved and molecular biomarkers were collected at baseline and after three months in a subsample from both groups (n = 91). Three focus group discussions were conducted with a subsample of individuals (n = 18) from the intervention group.

Results Participants in the intervention group had high levels of objectively measured PA and adherence to WAT use although there was a slight decrease over the 12 week study period. No differences were found between the groups in the C-RCT regarding change over time in work ability, PA, or work productivity. No or only weak associations were found between PA, joint function, and molecular biomarkers. In focus group discussions, WATs were experienced as facilitating PA but opinions also emerged noting that WATs could be discouraging. mHealth was seen as an appreciated part of OA care and several important features were highlighted.

Conclusion The participants included in this project already had good work ability, were highly physically active, and probably had a greater interest in mHealth than the general OA population. This might have reduced the possibility of seeing an effect in the intervention. However, high adherence to the WATs and the participants' experiences noting that WATs facilitated and aided in optimizing PA levels indicate that they could be beneficial for this population. Participants' experiences and perceptions of mHealth in OA care could be useful when designing future hybrid OA care. Lastly, although no or only weak associations between PA, joint function and molecular biomarkers were found, there were study limitations

that could have affected the results and we therefore suggest that additional research might be needed.

Svensk sammanfattning

Artros är en vanligt förekommande ledsjukdom och drabbar ofta höft- och knälederna. Förekomsten av artros ökar med stigande ålder och är vanligare hos kvinnor. Vid artros påverkas ledbrosket, intilliggande ben samt ligament och muskulatur. Den som drabbats upplever ofta smärta och stelhet, framför allt vid belastning. Artros i höft och knä kan innebära svårigheter att utföra vissa rörelser eller aktiviteter som att ta på strumpor, gå i trappor eller att utöva sporter och fritidsintressen. Artros kan också påverka arbetsförmågan hos de som drabbas.

Grundbehandlingen vid artros i höft och knä är information, fysisk aktivitet och (vid behov) viktnedgång. I Sverige bör man bli erbjuden denna behandling i form av artrosskola som vanligen ges inom primärvården. Fysisk aktivitet är inte bara viktigt som en del av grundbehandlingen vid artros, det är även effektivt som en hälsofrämjande och sjukdomsförebyggande insats. Enligt internationella rekommendationer bör alla vuxna vara fysiskt aktiva 150–300 minuter i veckan på måttlig intensitetsnivå och/eller minst 75–150 minuter på hög intensitetsnivå. Trots betydelsen av fysisk aktivitet vid artros har dock stora forskningsstudier visat att många människor med höft- och knäartros inte är tillräckligt fysiskt aktiva. Tidigare forskning har också visat att individer med artros har sämre arbetsförmåga än de som inte har artros.

På senare tid har användningen av digitala hjälpmedel och mobil hälsa blivit allt vanligare som hälsofrämjande stöd. Aktivitetsmätare (som oftast bärs på handleden) kan ge information om till exempel antalet steg eller minuter i fysisk aktivitet på måttlig/hög nivå. I forskningsstudier har man visat att aktivitetsmätarna kan användas för att främja fysisk aktivitet hos användarna. Såvitt vi vet har man dock inte tittat på hur mätarna kan påverka arbetsförmåga hos arbetsföra individer med höft- och knäartros.

Det övergripande syftet med denna avhandling var att öka kunskapen om mobil hälsa och fysisk aktivitet och deras inverkan på arbetsförmåga, hälsa och molekylära biomarkörer hos individer i arbetsför ålder med höft- och knäartros. Mer specifikt ville vi i vår huvudstudie undersöka effekten av att använda en aktivitetsmätare (Fitbit Flex 2) i tolv veckor i kombination med att delta i artrosskola (interventionsgrupp) jämfört med att bara delta i artrosskola (kontrollgrupp).

Avhandlingen utgörs av fyra delstudier som är baserade på samma studiepopulation. Vi rekryterade 160 individer med höft- och knäartros som arbetade minst 50 procent. De lottades till antingen intervention- eller kontrollgrupp. Alla deltagare

fick besvara frågeformulär om bland annat arbetsförmåga, fysisk aktivitet och ledfunktion. Formulären fylldes i vid projektstart samt vid uppföljning efter tre, sex och tolv månader. Information om dagligt stegantal och minuter i fysisk aktivitet hämtades också in från aktivitetsmätarna. Tre fokusgruppsdiskussioner genomfördes också med 18 individer som deltagit i interventionsgruppen. deltagarnas erfarenheter av Diskussionerna handlade om att använda aktivitetsmätarna och deras upplevelser av mobil hälsa och digitalt stöd vid artrosbehandling. Vi undersökte även sambandet mellan fysisk aktivitet, ledfunktion och molekylära biomarkörer (brosk och inflammation) och därför fick 91 deltagare även lämna blodprover vid två tillfällen. Data från de olika studierna i projektet analyserades och sammanställdes med statistiska eller kvalitativa metoder.

Resultatet visade att användning av aktivitetsmätare i kombination med artrosskola inte hade större effekt på arbetsförmåga och fysisk aktivitet, jämfört med enbart artrosskola. Det fanns ingen signifikant skillnad mellan grupperna avseende förändring i arbetsförmåga och fysisk aktivitet från projektstart till uppföljningarna. Vad gäller arbetsproduktivitet fanns det en skillnad till fördel för interventionsgruppen men bara för en av instrumentets fyra delskalor och bara till första uppföljningen. Resultatet av data som inhämtades från aktivitetsmätarna visade att deltagarna i genomsnitt gick drygt 10 000 steg per dag och att majoriteten var fysiskt aktiva på minst måttlig nivå mer än 150 minuter per vecka. Aktivitetsmätarna bars i genomsnitt 88 procent av de tolv veckorna. Vid fokusgruppsdiskussionerna framkom att aktivitetsmätarna uppskattades och att de upplevdes kunna främja och optimera deltagarnas fysiska aktivitet. Deltagarna tyckte dock också att det kunde upplevas som stressande eller nedslående om man inte kunde nå sitt stegmål på grund av smärta. De var generellt sett positiva till mobil hälsa och digitalt stöd vid artros men tyckte att det helst skulle ges i kombination med traditionell vård. Slutligen fann vi inga eller svaga samband mellan fysisk aktivitet, ledfunktion och molekylära biomarkörer hos våra deltagare.

Att användningen av aktivitetsmätare inte hade någon effekt på arbetsförmåga eller fysisk aktivitet skulle kunna bero på att deltagarna i detta projekt redan hade god arbetsförmåga och en hög nivå av fysisk aktivitet. Det fanns alltså inte mycket utrymme till förbättring. Den höga följsamheten till att bära aktivitetsmätaren samt deltagarnas erfarenheter ger dock en indikation på att de kan vara till hjälp både för att uppmuntra till att röra på sig och för att hitta rätt mängd fysisk aktivitet då många med artros upplever mer smärta vid överbelastning. Resultatet från avhandlingen kan vara till hjälp för både patienter, vårdgivare och forskare vid utformning av den framtida artrosvården som förmodligen kommer att bli en hybrid av traditionell och digital vård.

Thesis at a glance

	Paper I	Paper II	Paper III	Paper IV
Aim	Describe PA patterns and adherence to using a WAT, Fitbit Flex 2, among individuals of working age with hip and knee OA, during a 12-week period. A secondary aim was to explore the correlation between self-reported function and PA.	Examine the effects of adding self- monitoring PA with a WAT to the SOASP on work ability and the secondary objectives PA and work productivity among individuals of working age with hip and knee OA compared to the SOASP only.	Explore the experience of using a WAT to monitor PA and the general perceptions of digital support in individuals of working age with hip and knee OA.	Explore the associations between PA or self-reported joint function and molecular biomarkers of cartilage and inflammation in individuals of working age with hip and knee OA.
Methods	Individuals with hip and knee OA of working age who participated in the intervention group of the C-RCT with at least 50% WAT-data were included (n =75). WAT data was analysed with linear mixed models.	Individuals with hip and knee OA of working age were included in C-RCT. Questionnaires were filled out at baseline and three follow-ups. Those with data from baseline and at least one follow-up were included in the analyses (n =124). Data was analysed with linear mixed models and ANCOVA.	Individuals with hip and knee OA of working age who participated in the intervention group of the C-RCT were included (n =18). Three focus group discussions were conducted. Qualitative content analysis was applied to the data.	Individuals with hip and knee OA who participated in the C- RCT were included (n =91). Serum samples were collected at baseline and three month follow-up. Questionnaire data on joint function, PA and WAT data were used in the analyses. Data was analysed with Spearman's rank correlation.
Main results	On average, participants walked 10,593 steps/day, spent 48.1 minutes in MVPA/day and used the WAT for 88.4% of the 12-week period. Daily steps, minutes in MVPA and adherence to WAT- use decreased significantly over the 12 weeks.	No statistically significant difference between groups in pattern of change in work ability or PA, from baseline to follow-ups was found.Neither group had a statistically significant change in work ability between baseline and follow- ups.	The analysis resulted in two main categories: WATs may aid in optimization of PA, but is not a panacea and Digital support is an appreciated part of OA care with three sub-categories respectively.	The correlation between change in self-reported PA and change in COMP was weak (rs = $-$ 0.256, p =0.040). No other associations were found.
Conclusions	A majority of participants reached the recommended level of MVPA per week and adherence to Fitbit use was high. However, both PA and adherence decreased slightly over time. Understanding PA patterns and the use of a WAT to promote PA could be beneficial in tailoring interventions for individuals with hip and/or knee OA.	The SOASP and self-monitoring PA with a WAT did not have any effect on the work ability. Participants at baseline already had good work ability and were physically active, which could have reduced possibility for improvements. Future interventions should target a population with lower work ability and PA levels.	WATs may facilitate physical activity but also aid individuals with OA to find the optimal level of PA to avoid increased pain. Digital support in OA care was appreciated, particularly as a part of traditional care including physical visits. Digital support should be easy, comprehensive, early, and continuous.	In general, no, or only weak associations were found between PA/joint function and molecular biomarkers. Future research is recommended to include participants with lower PA-level, have a longer follow- up and use a design that allows for comparisons.

Abbreviations

ANCOVA	Analysis of co-variance
ARGS	Neoepitope of aggrecan
BCT	Behaviour change technique
BMI	Body mass index
BOA	Better Management for Patients with OA
C2C	Collagen type II cleavage
CI	Confidence interval
COMP	Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein
C-RCT	Cluster-randomised controlled trial
CRP	C-reactive protein
eHealth	Electronic Health
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
GBD	Global Burden of Disease
GLA:D	The Good Life with Osteoarthritis
HOOS	Hip Osteoarthritis and disability Outcome Score
ICF	International classification of functioning, disability and health
KOOS	Knee Osteoarthritis and injury Outcome Score
IPAQ-SF	International physical activity questionnaire-short form
LPA	Light physical activity
М	Median
MET	Metabolic equivalent of tasks
mHealth	Mobile Health
MVPA	Moderate to vigorous physical activity
NSAID	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OA	Osteoarthritis
OARSI	Osteoarthritis Research Society International
PA	Physical activity

РТ	Physiotherapist/physiotherapy
SD	Standard deviation
SOASP	Supported osteoarthritis self-management program
VO ₂	Oxygen uptake
WAI	Work ability index
WAT	Wearable activity tracker
WHO	World health organization
WPAI:OA	Work productivity and activity scale: osteoarthritis

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following papers. In the text, the papers will be referred to by the Roman numerals I–IV.

- I. Östlind E, Sant'Anna A, Eek F, Stigmar K, Ekvall Hansson E. Physical activity patterns, adherence to using a wearable activity tracker during a 12-week period and correlation between self-reported function and physical activity in working age individuals with hip and/or knee osteoarthritis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2021 May 15;22(1):450. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-021-04338-x
- II. Östlind E, Eek F, Stigmar K, Sant'Anna A, Hansson EE. Promoting work ability with a wearable activity tracker in working age individuals with hip and/or knee osteoarthritis: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2022 Feb 3;23(1):112. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-022-05041-1
- III. Östlind E, Ekvall Hansson E, Eek F, Stigmar K. Perceptions and experiences of digital support and activity monitoring in working individuals with hip and/or knee osteoarthritis – a focus group study. *In manuscript, submitted.*
- IV. Östlind E, Eek F, Stigmar K, Sant'Anna A, Ekvall Hansson E, Struglics A. Associations between physical activity, self-reported joint function, and molecular biomarkers in working age individuals with hip and/or knee osteoarthritis. Clin Med Insights Arthritis Musculoskelet Disord. 2022 Mar 23;15:11795441221081063. https://doi.org/10.1177/11795441221081063

Descriptions of contributions

I.

Study design	Elin Östlind, Anita Sant'Anna, Frida Eek, Kjerstin Stigmar, Eva Ekvall Hansson
Data collection	Elin Östlind, Anita Sant'Anna
Data analyses	Elin Östlind, Anita Sant'Anna, Frida Eek
Manuscript writing	Elin Östlind, Anita Sant'Anna, Frida Eek, Kjerstin Stigmar, Eva Ekvall Hansson
II.	
Study design	Elin Östlind, Frida Eek, Kjerstin Stigmar, Anita Sant'Anna, Eva Ekvall Hansson
Data collection	Elin Östlind, Anita Sant'Anna
Data analyses	Elin Östlind, Anita Sant'Anna, Frida Eek
Manuscript writing	Elin Östlind, Frida Eek, Kjerstin Stigmar, Anita Sant'Anna, Eva Ekvall Hansson
III.	
Study design	Elin Östlind, Kjerstin Stigmar, Frida Eek, Eva Ekvall Hansson
Data collection	Elin Östlind, Kjerstin Stigmar, Eva Ekvall Hansson
Data analyses	Elin Östlind, Kjerstin Stigmar
Manuscript writing	Elin Östlind, Kjerstin Stigmar, Frida Eek, Eva Ekvall Hansson
IV.	
Study design	Elin Östlind, Frida Eek, Kjerstin Stigmar, Anita Sant'Anna, Eva Ekvall Hansson, André Struglics
Data collection	Elin Östlind, Anita Sant'Anna, André Struglics
Data analyses	Elin Östlind, Frida Eek, André Struglics
Manuscript writing	Elin Östlind, Frida Eek, Kjerstin Stigmar, Anita Sant'Anna, Eva Ekvall Hansson, André Struglics

Preface

Since I graduated as a physiotherapist in 2008 from Lund University, I have mainly worked in primary health care. After a couple of years as a clinician, my need for further knowledge led me to pursue a master's degree and a speciality. My master's thesis was conducted within a research project called WorkUp with my current co-supervisor Kjerstin Stigmar as my main supervisor. It was then my interest in research really awakened. A year after finishing my master's degree, I was accepted as a PhD student.

Context of this thesis

This PhD-project was carried out in a project called Active@Work. The project was initiated several years before I became involved, and the project plan was developed by researchers from Lund University and Halmstad University. It received funding from the Swedish Research Council in 2016. The aim of the project was to explore whether mobile technology, including a personalized decision support system, could have any effect on physical activity level, health, work ability, health related quality of life, work productivity or sick leave among working individuals with hip and/or knee osteoarthritis. The specific research questions in Active@Work were:

- Can an intervention, comprised of mobile technology have any effect on physical activity level, self-rated health, work ability, quality of life or work productivity among individuals with OA?
- Is there any difference in effect between using mobile technology and activity monitoring alone or when continuous feedback concerning physical activity is added?

However, Active@Work was not granted the amount of funding they applied for. That and various other reasons resulted in an inability to develop the personalized decision support system in the original project plan, and the project was thus gradually redesigned into the content of this thesis. I would think that this process is by no means unique in research and for me personally, it has been a great learning experience. I believe that the results of this project can provide new knowledge in the research field despite the change of course.

Introduction

This thesis mainly concerns hip and knee osteoarthritis (OA), physical activity (PA) and Mobile Health (mHealth) which are explored from different points of view. In the introduction, I will describe OA and its impact on health and work. I will also highlight molecular biomarkers and their potential utility in OA treatment and research. The other central concepts in this study, PA, and the use of mHealth (especially wearable activity trackers (WATs)) to promote PA will also be described.

Hip and knee osteoarthritis

Pathogenesis

OA has a relatively long medical history and was described and classified by physicians in the 19th century (1). Earlier, it had been seen as a wear-and-tear disease mostly affecting articular cartilage, but is now seen as an organ disease affecting the synovial joints as well as the surrounding tissues (1,2). The cause of OA seems to be multifactorial and there are still gaps in knowledge about its aetiology (2).

In the healthy synovial joint, there is a balance, a homeostasis, between breakdown and repair of the joint tissues, but in OA, this homeostasis has been disrupted (3). The bones in the synovial joints are covered with articular cartilage, which is a smooth, viscoelastic, and avascular tissue (i.e., in healthy cartilage) that distributes the mechanical load of the joint. Since healthy cartilage is avascular, nutrition is provided through diffusion from the synovial fluid in the joint cavity (4). This diffusion is supported by movement and loading/unloading of the joint (4).

The cartilage is organized in layers and divided into four zones; superficial, middle, deep, and the zone of calcified cartilage, illustrated in Figure 1 (4,5). It consists of the extracellular matrix (mainly water, hyaluronic acid and proteins such as collagens and proteoglycans) and chondrocytes (cartilage specific cells) (5–8). To maintain the mechanical functions of the cartilage, it is important to maintain the water in the extracellular matrix (4). In OA, there is an increase in the metabolism with loss of extracellular matrix and chondrocytes leading to a destruction of the

cartilage (7,9). Since healthy cartilage is avascular, it has a poor regenerative capacity, and this destruction cannot be reversed (9).



Figure 1. Signalling pathways and structural changes in the development of osteoarthritis. (Reproduced from Osteoarthritis, Glyn-Jones S et al, The Lancet 386, 376–387, 2015, with permission from Elsevier Ltd)

OA does not only affect the cartilage but also the synovia, soft tissues (ligaments and menisci), and subchondral bone (Figure 2). Synovial hypertrophy and inflammation in the synovial membrane (synovitis) as well as increased vascularity and inflammatory cell infiltration are common in OA (8,10). Clinically, synovitis and the related effusion could be contributing factors to the experience of pain in individuals with OA (11).

The joint capsule, ligaments, and the meniscus (knees) are also affected in OA, although they have not received as much attention as cartilage and bone. Degenerative changes with increased fibrosis and a loss of flexibility can be seen in these soft tissues in individuals with OA (12). There is a strong relationship between degenerated menisci and knee OA and the direction of the relationship seems to go in both directions; a meniscus tear might facilitate the development of OA and a healthy meniscus could degenerate due to OA (13). Changes that develop in the subchondral bone in response to disrupted homeostasis are remodelling of the bone, and the formation of osteophytes and bone cavities (cysts) (2). These changes,

together with joint space narrowing, are a part of the diagnostic criteria in the radiological assessment of hip and knee OA (14).



Figure 2. Features of pathogenesis consistent with osteoarthritis in the knee. (Reproduced from Osteoarthritis, David J Hunter and David T Felson, BMJ 333, 639–642, 2006, with permission from BMJ Publishing Group Ltd.)

What causes and drives the progression of OA is not fully understood, but recent research suggests that metabolic syndrome and inflammation (both local and systemic) might be important factors (15,16). In a joint affected by OA, there is an increase in proinflammatory cytokines, which is believed to relate to the structural changes in OA (17). Compared to rheumatoid arthritis, which is characterized by high-grade inflammation, the inflammation in OA is low-grade and chronic in character (18).

Risk factors

There are several risk factors associated with OA incidence and the progression of the disease, as illustrated in Figure 3. Some of the risk factors are local and joint-specific, while others are systemic (19). One of the most important local risk factors is injury to the joint (commonly the knee). A recent systematic review and meta-analysis reported that the odds of developing OA after a previous knee injury are four to six times higher compared to a non-injured knee (20). An injury to the anterior cruciate ligament in the knee leads to altered homeostasis and a low-grade inflammation which is still present five years following the injury according to an exploratory study (21). PA/sport has also been suggested as a local risk factor, but it is the consequence of the sport (i.e., injury), rather than recreational PA itself that increases the risk of OA (19,22–24). Other possible local risk factors for OA are certain occupations involving heavy manual work (25,26), muscle strength and other biomechanical factors (19).



Figure 3. Risk factors for osteoarthritis and related disability. (Reproduced from Epidemiology of Osteoarthritis and Associated Comorbidities, David J. Hunter, David C. Morgenroth, Pradeep Suri, PM&R, 4: S10-S19, 2012, with permission from Elsevier Ltd.) (19)

Obesity is both a local risk factor due to a higher biomechanical load as well as a systemic factor driving the low-grade inflammation associated with OA (15,16). A systematic review and meta-analysis reported an almost three-fold risk of knee OA for obese/overweight individuals, compared to normal weight individuals (27). Other important individual systemic risk factors associated with OA are age and sex.

OA prevalence increases with higher age. The incidence of knee OA peaks at 70–79 years and the incidence of hip OA peaks at 60–64 years according to data from the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) studies (28–30). However, hip and knee OA also affects younger individuals, which could impact work participation (31). Female sex has consistently been reported as a risk factor for hip and knee OA, although the risk is more attenuated for knee than hip OA (32). The reason for this is not yet understood, although previous research has found that oestrogen has some effect on knee OA (33).

Molecular biomarkers

The diagnosis of OA is based on clinical and radiological findings, but the structural changes and increased metabolism of the cartilage can also be detected by molecular biomarkers in synovial fluid, blood (serum/plasma) and urine (34,35). A working group of The National Institute of Health has defined a biomarker as "a characteristic that is objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes, or pharmacological responses to therapeutic intervention" (36). Molecular biomarkers have gained increased attention as a method to detect OA early and to monitor its progress (35,37,38). The destruction of the extracellular matrix in cartilage causes a loss of matrix fragments to synovial fluid, blood, and urine. Compared to healthy controls, individuals with OA have higher circulating levels of cartilage biomarkers (34). Systematic molecular biomarkers (blood and urine) do not provide information about a specific joint but can be used to detect a total disease burden (35,39).

There is no singe molecular biomarker that can be used as a measure for OA but rather a combination of biomarkers (35). The molecular biomarkers ARGS-aggrecan (i.e., aggrecan neoepitope of Alanine (A) - Arginine (R) - Glycine (G) – Serine (S)), generated by aggrecanase proteases, and type II collagen (i.e., collagen-II neoepitope C2C) generated by collagenase proteases, are both related to cartilage metabolism and are included on a list of the best candidates for evaluating OA (34). In previous studies with knee-injured individuals or individuals with OA, ARGS-aggrecan and C2C were increased in synovial fluid and serum samples (21,40–42). The cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) is a joint structure protein also used as a molecular biomarker in OA. Previous research has shown an association between PA and COMP (43,44). Molecular biomarkers for inflammation, such as C-reactive protein (CRP), have also been suggested as markers of OA diagnosis and progression (45).

Prevalence and burden of disease

The hips and knees are two of the most common sites affected by OA. Knee OA is more common than hip OA. The prevalence of OA increases with age and this increase accelerates between 50 and 75 years, especially in women (16). The reported prevalence of hip and knee OA varies, depending on the definitions used in studies (radiographic, clinical, or symptomatic) (46).

Hip OA

The age-standardized incidence of hip OA has increased from 17.02 per 100,000 individuals in 1990 to 18.70 per 100,000 individuals in 2019 according to the GBD study in 2019 (30). Population-based studies in the US have reported a prevalence of *symptomatic* hip OA in middle-aged and older adults of 4.2 % (age-standardized) and 9.7% (47,48). This is in line with results from a Spanish study of individuals \geq 40 years of age, reporting a prevalence of 5.1% based on *radiographic* and *clinical* criteria (49). In Sweden, a large population-based study of individuals \geq 45 years of age reported the proportion of individuals with physician-diagnosed hip OA at 5.8% (50). The authors of that study also estimated that the prevalence of doctor-diagnosed hip OA would increase to 6.9% by 2032 (50).

Knee OA

From a global perspective, the prevalence of knee OA was estimated to be 3.8% in the 2010 GBD study (29). In a more recent systematic review and meta-analysis, the global prevalence in individuals \geq 40 years was estimated to be 22.9% (51). In US individuals \geq 50 years of age, a population-based study reported a prevalence of *symptomatic* knee OA of 17% (52), which is in line with the results from a recent systematic review and meta-analysis, reporting a prevalence of symptomatic knee OA of 14.6% in a Chinese cohort (53). In Sweden, the prevalence of knee OA diagnosed by a physician was 13.8% in a large population of individuals \geq 45 years of age. By the year 2032, that prevalence is estimated to increase to 15.7% (50).

Burden of disease

According to the 2010 GBD study, hip and knee OA was ranked 11th out of 291 total conditions as the top contributors of years lived with disability (29). Another more recent study on GBD data showed that the overall burden of hip OA, measured via disability-adjusted life-years increased from 11.54 disability-adjusted life-years per 100,000 individuals in 1990 to 12.57 per 100,000 individuals in 2019 (30). OA-related disability also leads to high costs for both the individual and society due to reduced capacity and performance at work (54–56). An US study estimated that the direct all-cause health care costs and indirect costs (lost wages) were \$1778 and \$189, respectively, for individuals with OA compared to those without OA (57). In Sweden, a study showed that individuals with knee OA had an almost two-fold risk of sick leave compared to those without knee OA (58).

Impact on health and work ability

OA in the hip and knee can have an impact on an individual's function and ability to perform activities and participate in work or other recreations. This impact on different domains can be described using the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) model developed by the World Health Organization (WHO) (59). The ICF model illustrates how the different domains interact with each other. In Figure 4, the ICF-model is illustrated with examples from the ICF core set for OA (60). The interactions can go in both directions. In the following paragraphs, the general impact that OA can have on different domains in the ICF is presented. The contextual factors that represent the complete background of an individual's life are also presented, as they could influence and interact with other domains (59).

Body functions and structure

In OA, there are several local structural alterations in the affected joint(s) and the surrounding tissues as described in the previous paragraphs on the pathogenesis. Individuals with OA also experience impacts on body functions with joint pain as the most predominant symptom (61). In a previous study, two types of pain associated with hip and knee OA were described. One type was described as a more constant, dull, aching, throbbing pain and the other type was characterized as a shorter, more intense, unpredictable, and emotionally exhausting pain. Pain that was unpredictable and had a higher intensity had the greatest impact on activities and quality of life (62). Other clinical symptoms that are often present in hip and knee OA are reduced joint mobility, reduced muscle strength, joint swelling, and fatigue (31,32).



Figure 4. The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) model with examples from the core set for OA.

Activities

The alterations in body functions and structure associated with OA can also impact an individual's ability to perform different activities such as walking, stair climbing, carrying, self-care, and housekeeping (63,64). Already in early knee OA, pain and low vitality is associated with avoidance of activities (65). Also work-specific tasks, sport-specific tasks, and other activities of daily living can be affected by impairments to body function and structure (3,26,31). Individuals with hip OA experience somewhat other difficulties than those with knee OA.

Secondary analyses from two studies with 42 focus groups comprised of individuals with hip and knee OA showed that those with hip OA often mentioned groin and sidedness (ex. problems with lying one's side) while individuals with knee OA were more concerned about stairs, weight, and stiffness (66). However, a recent longitudinal study from Denmark with more than 30,000 participants showed similar results for individuals with hip OA as for individuals with knee OA on walking speed, pain intensity and quality of life (67). In a US population, individuals in OA had higher pain interference with activities and more functional limitations than individuals without OA (57).

Participation

Due to reduced function or reduced capacity to perform different activities, participation in work, sport or other leisure activities may also be affected (60). As

mentioned previously, studies have shown a lower work ability in individuals with OA than those without, but this is also dependent on the demands of the work and possibilities for adaptions at the workplace (25,68). In a Swedish cohort of individuals with hip and knee OA, female-dominated occupations such as health care, cleaning, and childcare were associated with an increased risk of sick leave or disability pension (25). However, being at work with reduced capacity (presenteeism) seems to be more common than being absent from work (absenteeism) due to OA (54,69,70). OA can also lead to difficulties for individuals in engaging with leisure or sport activities due to limitations in function and activities, pain, and fatigue (71,72).

Contextual factors (Environmental and personal)

Contextual factors are also important to take into consideration when describing OA's impact on health and work ability. As described in the previous paragraph, certain occupations and work tasks might increase the risk of OA (25,26,73). Also, since work ability is related to occupational demands, individuals with OA might experience more difficulties in a physically demanding occupation (25,74). An individual's ability to participate in different activities can also be affected by environmental factors, social support, and access to health care (75,76). Age and sex are important personal factors that increases the incidence and progression of OA (19,32). An individual's motivation and coping strategies are also relevant personal factors that might impact on activities and participation (77).

Comorbidities

The presence of additional diseases i.e., comorbidities, is common in individuals with OA. Stroke, peptic ulcers, and metabolic syndrome are the most common comorbidities according to a recent systematic review and meta-analysis (78). Other diseases, such as cardiovascular disease and depression, have also been reported in previous research as more prevalent in individuals with OA compared to those without OA (54,79–81). In a large Swedish cohort (70,000 with OA and 216,000 without OA), a larger proportion of those with OA had comorbidities (85%) compared to those without OA (78%) (82). That result was most evident in younger individuals and individuals with OA in the knee (82). The aetiology of the relationship between OA and certain comorbidities is still largely unknown and difficult to explore since several diseases share common risk factors (78). The presence of comorbidities has been shown to be associated with worsening of pain and physical functioning in individuals with hip and/or knee OA (83).

The association between OA and mortality has been explored in several systematic reviews and meta-analyses, with conflicting results (84–86). In the most recent meta-analysis, Leyland et al. (86) reported a higher risk of premature mortality in individuals with painful knee OA but not for individuals with OA without pain.

Treatment

Despite the voluminous research conducted during the last century, there is still no treatment that can cure OA or halt its progression (87,88). Consequently, treatment is mainly focused on alleviating symptoms and reducing the impact of the disease (87). Since OA is a chronic disease marked by slow progression, self-management is an important approach in managing the condition. In self-management, the individual is responsible for his/her own health and interventions are developed to improve health status (89).

A large number of national and international clinical practice guidelines on OA have been published during the last decade according to a recent systematic review that compiled and assessed the guidelines (90). All guidelines on hip and knee OA included in that systematic review consistently recommended that *patient education/information*, *exercise*, and *weight management* (for those who are overweight) should be offered as core treatment in hip and knee OA (90). In the guidelines from the OA Research Society International (OARSI), core treatments were also recommended in conjunction with additional treatments (91). These guidelines have been implemented in treatment programmes in several countries and are often illustrated as a treatment pyramid (Figure 5) (92,93).



Figure 5. Core treatment of osteoarthritis in hip and knee. (92,93)

The Supported Osteoarthritis Self-management Programme

In Sweden, the core treatment for OA is offered in the form of Supported Osteoarthritis Self-management Programme (SOASP) (92). SOASP was developed in 2008 and aims to support individuals with OA in coping with their disease, improving health-related quality of life, increasing PA, reducing health care consumption, and reducing sick leave (92,94). Patients seeking health care for hip or knee OA should be referred to SOASP as the first-line treatment. Patients are often offered an individual visit with a PT before participating in the SOASP. The SOASP constitutes of two group lectures (often held by a PT), a session with an OA communicator and individual- or group-led exercise (Figure 6). A national quality registry, "Better Management for Patients with OA" (BOA), previously provided educational material and trained PTs and occupational therapists in offering SOASP. As of 2019, BOA is no longer responsible for the SOASP, and education is offered by other organisations such as the Swedish Rheumatism Association (95).

Similar versions of SOASP have been spread to other countries, "The Good Life with Osteoarthritis" (GLA:D) is the Danish version, which in turn has spread to a number of countries (93). A digital version of SOASP has also been developed in Sweden; the "Joint Academy" (96).

Assessment Individual visit with a physiotherapist (PT)

Supported Osteoarthritis Self-management Programme (SOASP)

rventio	Session 1 (PT)	Session 2 (PT)	Session 3 (OA communicator)
al intei	What is OA? Risk factors	Exercise Daily life activities	To live with OA
Minim	Symptoms Treatment	Coping Self-management	

Patient's choice, individual adapted exercise:

⊆

Exercise at home

Group exercise Supervised by a PT for 6-8 weeks

Figure 6. The Supported Osteoarthritis Self-management Programme (SOASP).

Additional treatments and surgery

In some cases, additional treatments or surgery are needed to complement the core treatment in hip and knee OA. The OARSI clinical guidelines from 2019 strongly recommend topical non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) for knee OA (91) in addition to core treatments. Non-selective oral NSAIDs could be recommended in both hip and knee OA for patients without comorbidities, preferably with the addition of proton pump inhibitor or selective COX-2 inhibitors. Aquatic exercise, gait aids and cognitive behavioural therapy in combination with exercise were also recommended as additional treatments. The recommendations were, in general, stronger for knee OA than for hip OA.

Acupuncture has also been suggested as an additional treatment for knee OA. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis showed beneficial effect on reducing pain and improving function (97). For hip OA, acupuncture seems to have little or no effect on improving pain and function (98).

If the core treatment in combination with additional treatments are insufficient to relieve pain and improve function, surgery might be an option. Total joint replacement is effective in reducing pain and improving physical functioning (99,100).

Physical activity

Definitions and concepts

PA includes all movements made during different activities in leisure, work, and transportation. It is defined as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure". *Exercise* is a sub-category of PA and is defined as an activity that "is planned, structured, repetitive, and purposive in the sense that improvement or maintenance of one or more components of physical fitness is an objective" (101). Engaging in sports and other leisure activities are consequently often regarded as exercise.

PA is carried out at different intensity levels that can be defined and measured as *absolute* or *relative* intensity (102). *Absolute intensity* is a general measure of the energy expenditure needed to perform any form of PA. It can be measured in terms of, for example, kilojoules, kilocalories, oxygen consumption (VO₂) or Metabolic Equivalent of Tasks (METs) (103). One MET is the rate of energy expenditure for an individual at rest and it is calculated based on an average oxygen uptake of 3.5 millilitres/kilogram per minute. METs increase with higher intensity. Examples of METs in different activities are presented in Table 1. *Relative intensity* is related to an individual's physical capacity. This can be measured in different ways, for

example, percent of maximum heartrate, percent of VO_2max or percent of heart rate reserve. Relative intensity can also be self-rated using different scales such as the Borg's rating of perceived exertion scale (102).

Intensity	METs	Activities
Sedentary	<1.5	Lying down, sleeping, sitting.
Light	1.6-2.9	Slow walk, cooking, easy cleaning.
Moderate	3.0-5.9	Brisk walking, vacuuming, weightlifting (squats), bicycling 15 km/h.
Vigorous	>6.0	Running >6.4 km/h, skiing cross country, playing squash.

Table 1. Examples of Metabolic Equivalent of Tasks (METs) in different activities.

METs are often categorized into different intensity levels where intensities >3.0 METs are considered moderate to vigorous (MV) (104). PA, especially MVPA, has received much attention in medical research as a method to promote health and prevent disease in the last 70 years (105,106). MVPA of \geq 30 minutes per day most days a week has been recommended in the US since 1995 (104).

Physiological effects of physical activity

There are several physiological responses to PA that drive its positive health effects. During muscle contractions, myokines (proteins) are produced which influence metabolism in other organs (107,108). The insulin sensitivity increases while glucose levels, blood pressure and inflammation are reduced (107,109,110). The anti-inflammatory effect of PA is important in reducing the risk of several common diseases that are driven by a low-grade inflammation (111).

The physiological response to MVPA can be measured after a single session of exercise (acute response) or after longer periods of regular exercise (chronic response) (112,113). The acute biological response following MVPA depends on several factors such as the intensity and duration of the activity and the physical fitness of the individual (112,113). Individuals that have a higher fitness level can exercise at a higher intensity level and for a longer time, which increases the acute effects of the exercise session. According to the WHO, physical activity has a positive effect on all-cause mortality; cardiovascular disease mortality; the incidence of hypertension, type 2 diabetes, site-specific cancers, and mental health issues (reduced symptoms of anxiety and depression); an on cognitive health and sleep. Adiposity and lipid profiles may also be improved by exercise (114,115).

Physical activity in hip and knee osteoarthritis

Benefits and recommendations

In several aspects, PA is vital for individuals with hip and knee OA. Since synovial joint cartilage is avascular, its nutrient supply and metabolism relies on diffusion and the mechanical load/unload cycle in the joint (4). Consequently, cartilage requires loading to remain healthy (116). Immobilisation of a joint leads to atrophy of the cartilage (117,118) which might lead to a more rapid progress of OA (119). Voinier et al. (120) reported that both joint underloading and overloading might be associated with worsening damage to knee cartilage and suggests that a (theoretical) U-shaped relationship between PA and cartilage damage may exist.

PA is recommended in clinical guidelines as a part of non-surgical core treatment of hip and knee OA (90,91,121) Previous research has shown that any type of exercise programme can improve pain, physical function and quality of life in individuals with knee OA (122,123). The type of PA (land- or water-based) does not seem to matter (123). In Sweden, a combination of aerobic PA, strength training and functional exercises are recommended for individuals with hip and knee OA (124).

However, recent research comparing PA with other non-surgical treatments or placebo in the knee has shown similar beneficial effects for different treatments including placebo with saline injections on OA-related pain (125,126). A systematic review ranked PA as the superior treatment for knee OA, followed by nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and opioids but the differences in effect were small (126). Notwithstanding these recent findings, PA is also important in improving other health outcomes and in reducing the risk of diseases (114). The general international recommendation from WHO of 150–300 minutes of MPA or 75–100 min of VPA, or a combination of these per week also applies for individuals with OA. According to a longitudinal observational study, meeting the PA guidelines might also have a protective effect for radiographic OA progression in individuals with knee OA (127,128).

Global PA recommendations has also been translated into the number of required steps per day, where 7,000 steps to correspond to 150 min in MVPA per week (129). White et al.(130) also showed that walking <6,000 steps per day seemed to be a preliminary estimate to prevent functional decline in individuals with knee OA. A recent dose-response meta-analysis investigating the association between daily steps and all-cause mortality showed a non-linear association where >7,500 steps only rendered marginal health effects (131). Another study has shown linear associations between steps and cardiovascular disease markers up to 10,000 steps in a middle-aged population (132).

Physical activity levels in individuals with osteoarthritis

Despite the beneficial effect of PA, previous research have shown that most individuals with hip and knee OA do not meet the recommended guidelines of at least 150 minutes of MPA or 75 minutes of VPA per week (133–136). A systematic review and meta-analysis reported that 58% of individuals with hip OA and 41% of individuals with knee OA engaged in PA >150 minutes/week although the quality of the evidence was low (133). Chang et al.(135) found that only 22% of the women and 44% of the men in a US cohort of 1,922 individuals who either had or were at risk of knee OA met the PA guidelines. A European study including individuals with knee OA from six countries showed that individuals with OA had lower PA levels and were less likely to reach recommended PA guidelines compared to individuals without OA. However, in Sweden, the study showed that the participants with OA from Sweden were equally as active as those without OA (136). Data from the Swedish BOA registry in 2019 showed that 38% of participants in SOASP (n =15,718) self-reported PA <150 min of MVPA/week (94).

Behavioural strategies to promote physical activity

During the last decades, a large number of studies on methods and intervention to promote and increase PA in populations with musculoskeletal pain has been published (137,138). According to two systematic reviews, most interventions lead to little or no difference in PA levels compared to no or minimal intervention (137,138). Interventions containing only information and exercise classes might not be effective in changing individuals' PA behaviour (137). Adding behavioural strategies to PA interventions using behaviour change techniques (BCTs) might increase the effect of and adherence to the intervention (139–143). A BCT is defined as an "observable and replicable component designed to change behaviour" and can be used alone or in combination with several BCTs (144). Michie et al. (144,145) constructed a hierarchically-structured taxonomy of 93 BCTs clustered in 16 different areas. Examples of a few BCTs, their definition and practical implication are shown in Table 2 (146).

Number	Label	Definition	Examples
1.	Goals and planning		
1.1	Goal setting	Set or agree on a goal defined in terms of the behaviour to be achieved.	A walking goal of 6000 steps/day.
2.	Feedback and monitoring		
2.2	Feedback on behaviour	Monitor and provide informative or evaluative feedback on performance of the behaviour.	Inform the person of how many steps they walked each day (as recorded on a pedometer).
2.3	Self-monitoring of behaviour	Establish a method for the person to monitor and record their behaviour(s) as part of a behaviour change strategy.	Use a pedometer and a form for recording daily total number of steps.
7.	Associations		
7.1	Prompts/cues	Introduce or define environmental or social stimulus with the purpose of prompting or cueing the behaviour. The prompt or cue would normally occur at the time or place of performance	Put a sticker on the bathroom mirror to remind people to brush their teeth. Receive reminders to move from an app.

Table 2. Examples of Behaviour Change Techniques Taxonomy v 1: 93 hierarcically clustered techniques.

A review study conducting a meta-regression found that interventions using the BCT 'self-monitoring' in combination with other self-regulatory techniques ('intention formation', 'goal setting', 'feedback on performance' and 'review of behaviour goal') are the most effective BCTs in promoting PA and healthy eating (145). Regarding increased adherence to PA in an OA population, 'behavioural contract', 'non-specific reward', 'patient-led goal setting', 'self-monitoring' and 'social support' were the most effective BCTs (142).

Mobile Health and activity monitoring

In recent decades, BCTs have been utilized in technology-based behavioural change interventions and the number of studies published annually has increased from 2 in 2001 to 95 in 2018 (147). Some of these technology-based interventions utilize Mobile Health (mHealth) which is a part of electronic Health (eHealth). mHealth has been defined as "a medical and public health practice supported by mobile devices such as mobile phones, patient monitoring devices, personal digital assistants and other wireless devices." (146, p. 6). Some of these wireless devices can be used to measure and monitor PA (149).

Wearable activity trackers

Wearable activity trackers (WATs) are wireless devices often worn on the wrist as a watch (Figure 7). They are produced by several commercial manufactures, such as Nike, Fitbit, and Garmin, and common functions include step counting, distance, heart rate, stairs climbed, minutes in different activity levels, sleep tracking, etc. (150). The feature of the WAT depends on the kind of device. One simple WAT is the pedometer, a spring-levered step counter which has been used for a long time to measure steps and distance (151).

Today, most WATs are accelerometer-based which enables a more comprehensive measurement of PA (152). The accelerometer-based WAT use a piezoelectric triaxial accelerometer which can detect acceleration in three different dimensions (149). The output from an accelerometer consists of *counts* in the three different dimensions. A higher number of *counts* means a higher level of acceleration/intensity of the measured activity (152). In commercial accelerometers, the counts are already transformed and presented to the user as steps, distance, and active minutes (149). These outputs are based on pattern recognition and algorithms that are unknown to the users (151).



Figure 7. Examples of wearable activity trackers (Picture by Eliza Lake from Pixabay.com)

A commercial wrist-worn WAT is often connected to the manufacturer's app on the user's smartphone, tablet, or computer (150). In the app, the user can change the settings, enter a step or activity goal, and monitor their PA, heartrate, and other
features. Some WATs have a display and others do not. The features of various WATs and their associated apps can differ significantly depending on the manufacturer and WAT model. In general, WATs utilize several BCTs that can be effective in promoting PA such as 'self-monitoring', 'goal setting', 'feedback on performance' and 'facilitating social comparison' (153,154).

Effects of monitoring physical activity

The use of and research on WATs have both increased rapidly during the last decade (155). WATs are popular in interventions to increase/support PA and other health outcomes in different populations in most studies published after 2015 (156). A recent systematic review and meta-analysis included 48 published articles and showed that interventions using WATs significantly increased the number of daily steps and weekly MVPA, but that the effect was dependent on the user and type of intervention (156). The results from another systematic review and meta-analysis that only included interventions that had used a Fitbit device showed an increase in steps and time in MVPA (157). That result is in line with the results from other reviews on WATs in different populations (158–162). In the review by Oliveira et al. (158) mobility was also reported to improve in interventions using WATs.

The effect of WAT-use on PA in populations with OA have also been explored previously. A systematic review and meta-analysis on WATs to support PA in individuals with musculoskeletal and rheumatic diseases also showed that WAT use increased steps per day and time spent in MVPA (163). In addition, a high short-term adherence to WAT use was reported in the review. Research on WAT use and the potential effect on work ability and work productivity in a working population with hip and knee OA is, to our knowledge, lacking.

Rationale

When the initial plan for this project was designed, mHealth and activity monitoring with WATs had started to be used more frequently in interventions aimed at improving health outcomes in different populations. Since then, there has been a considerable increase in the use of mHealth in intervention and research projects (147).

Previous research has shown that the prevalence of hip and knee OA is increasing worldwide and that individuals with OA have more comorbidities and worse work ability than the healthy population (30,58,78). PA has been and still is recommended as a vital part of the core treatment of OA (90,91,121). In addition, the general recommendation from WHO regarding PA also applies to individuals with hip and knee OA (114). However, this population, in general, does not seem to reach the recommended levels of PA (135).

In the early phases of planning this project, technical solutions to monitor and support PA had begun to emerge as a promising method (164). However, knowledge about the effect of activity monitoring with more advanced WATs in OA population was lacking. Only a few studies using simple pedometers in interventions had been published (163). In addition, information about OA individuals' experiences of and adherence to using a WAT was lacking.

The rationale and design for the fourth study of this thesis were developed in collaboration with Assoc Prof André Struglics, a molecular biomarker researcher within the OA field at Lund University. Molecular biomarkers have shown potential to be used in evaluating the progress of the disease and the effect of PA in individuals with hip and knee OA, but the relationship between PA and biomarkers in this population merits further exploration (165).

Aims

The overall aim

The overall aim of this thesis was to obtain knowledge of the impact of mHealth and PA on work ability, health, and molecular biomarkers and to explore experiences of mHealth in individuals of working age with hip and knee OA.

Specific aims of the four studies

- I. To describe PA patterns and adherence to using a WAT, (Fitbit Flex 2) among individuals of working age with hip and knee OA during a 12-week period. A secondary aim was to explore the correlation between baseline self-reported function and subsequent PA.
- II. To examine the effects of adding self-monitoring PA with a WAT to SOASP on work ability and the secondary objectives of PA and work productivity among individuals of working age with hip and knee OA compared to SOASP only.
- III. To explore the experience of using a WAT to monitor PA and the general perceptions of digital support in individuals of working age with hip and knee OA.
- IV. To explore the associations between PA or self-reported joint function and molecular biomarkers of cartilage and inflammation in individuals of working age with hip and knee OA.

Methods

Setting

The main setting for this project is a cluster-randomised controlled trial (C-RT) conducted in southern Sweden, which recruited participants living in the counties Skåne and Halland. The recruitment of participants was initiated in autumn 2017. Participants were initially recruited through health care centres or physiotherapy (PT) clinics that offered SOASP. SOASP has been described more extensively in the introduction of this thesis but, in essence, it is the recommended core treatment for OA (hip, knee, and hand) in Sweden and consists of lectures about OA, exercise, and self-management. These lectures are often succeeded by PT-led group training or home-based exercises.

Study design and timeline

All participants in this project took part in the C-RCT and were recruited continuously from October 2017 to May 2019. Figure 8 illustrates a timeline of the project. Three of the studies in the project are of quantitative design (I, II, IV) and one is qualitative (III).

Study I is an exploratory longitudinal study analysing 12 weeks of WAT data from participants in the intervention group of the C-RCT. Data for this study was collected from October 2017 to August 2019.

In Study II, the C-RCT, the addition of 12 weeks of PA self-monitoring with a WAT to SOASP was compared with participating in SOASP alone. Data was collected at baseline and at three follow-ups from November 2017 to May 2020.

Study III has a qualitative design and explores participants' experiences and perceptions of WAT use and digital support. The data was collected in three focus group discussions taking place in November to December 2019. Participants in this study had taken part in the C-RCT intervention.

Study IV encompasses an exploratory longitudinal design including participants from the C-RCT's intervention and control groups. In this study, data was collected from October 2018 to August 2019.



Figure 8. Timeline of the project process.

Participants and recruitment

Eligible for participation in this project were individuals of working age with hip and knee OA living in Skåne or Halland. The inclusion criteria for the C-RCT were working \geq 50% (20 hours/week), aged between 18 and 67 years, who were able to understand Swedish in speech and writing, and who were able to participate in PA. Furthermore, having access to a smartphone, tablet or computer and being able to wear a WAT for 12 weeks was necessary. Before the recruitment of participants was initiated, a project website was created. The website contained information about the project and was designed to enable participant self-registration and informed consent via an electronic identification service (166).

Since SOASP is a part of the core treatment for hip and knee OA in Sweden, we decided to recruit individuals that participated in the SOASPs in southern Sweden. We used the 2015 annual report from the BOA registry to inform us about centres/clinics in Skåne and Halland with the highest number of registered individuals that had participated in the SOASP in 2015 (167). In the next step, we contacted PTs at centres/clinics with >30 registered participants in 2015, who were then informed about the project and asked if they could assist in recruiting individuals. The PTs that agreed to aid in the recruitment process were asked to inform EÖ about upcoming SOASPs by e-mailing dates.

EÖ or the PT responsible for the SOASP then informed participants about the project. The information was delivered orally and took place at one of the lectures in the SOASP. Written information about the project and how to register was handed out to individuals that met inclusion criteria. In the information letter, there was a code with the name of the centre together with a number; e.g., "Carecentre2". Those interested in participating in the project were asked to self-register and enter that code so that they could be recognised in the project's server. Additional centres/clinics were added during the recruitment period, resulting in a total of 32 centres/clinics in Skåne and Halland, of which 18 contributed participants. The recruitment process is presented in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Flowchart of the recruitment process.

The recruitment rate from health care centres was low, and <30 individuals were enrolled after six months of multicentre recruitment. We decided to use an advertisement on Facebook and to post information on Lund University's webpage. The advertisement reached individuals between 40–67 years living within a specified geographical area in Skåne. There were two reasons for the limitations in the advertisement: first, the number of individuals reached by the advertisement needed to be narrowed down and few individuals below 40 years of age have OA. Secondly, potential participants needed to be able to travel to the health care centre where the SOASPs within the project were held. This method of recruitment was more effective compared to the original method. Since the previously recruited individuals had participated in the SOASP at health care centres or PT clinics, individuals enrolled through the Facebook advertisement were also offered SOASP held within the project. These SOASPs consisted of three lectures; EÖ held two and a third lecture was held by an OA communicator. Nine SOASPs were given within the project.

After early dropouts (n = 21) left due to various personal reasons, 139 participants were included in the project (Table 3).

	n	Intervention (n =80)	Control (n =59)	Total (n =139)
Age (years), mean (SD)	138	56.6 (0.6)	55.3 (0.8)	56.1 (5.7)
Sex, female, % (n)	139	86.3 (69)	72.9 (43)	80.6 (112)
Married or living with partner, % (n)	138	75.9 (60)	71.2 (42)	73.9 (102)
Education (postsecondary), % (n)	138	67.1 (53)	55.9 (33)	62.3 (86)
Most affected joint, % (n)	139			
Hip		22.5 (18)	27.1 (16)	24.0 (34)
Knee		77.5 (62)	72.9 (43)	76.0 (105)
Physically demanding work, % (n)	138			
No		68.4 (54)	72.9 (43)	70.3 (97)
Yes, several times a week		10.1 (8)	15.3 (9)	12.3 (17)
Yes, daily		19.0 (15)	11.9 (7)	15.9 (22)
Regular use of a WAT during the last three months before this project, % (n)	133	42.7 (32)	34.5 (20)	39.1 (52)
Present physical activity compared to before OA, % (n)	137			
More physically active		10.3 (8)	15.3 (9)	12,4 (17)
Less physically active		56.4 (44)	50.8 (30)	54.0 (74)
Equally physically active		33.3 (26)	33.9 (20)	33.6 (46)
WAI, categorical, % (n)	130			
Poor (7–27 points)		3.9 (3)	1.9 (1)	3.1 (4)
Moderate (28–36)		18.4 (14)	25.9 (14)	24.6 (28)
Good (37–43)		43.4 (33)	25.9 (14)	36.2 (47)
Excellent (44–49)		34.2 (26)	46.3 (25)	39.2 (51)
IPAQ, categorical, % (n)	124			
Low		20.0 (14)	13 (7)	16.9 (21)
Moderate		35.7 (25)	42.6 (23)	38.7 (48)
High		44.3 (31)	44.4 (24)	44.4 (55)

Table 3. Participant characteristics at baseline.

*Proportions are presented as valid percent, not including missing values.

SD: standard deviation; WAT: wearable activity tracker; OA: osteoarthritis; WAI: Work Ability Index

IPAQ: International Physical Activity Questionnaire

Participants and recruitment in studies III and IV

A combination of purposive and convenience sampling methods were used to recruit participants to the focus group study (III) (168). Participants from the intervention group in the C-RCT that took part of the intervention in 2019 were approached by e-mail in autumn 2019 (n = 57) and asked to share their experiences using WATs and their perceptions of digital support in OA care. Twenty individuals agreed to participate in the three focus group discussions. Two individuals dropped out due to unforeseen reasons and consequently, eighteen individuals eventually participated in the discussions.

Participants in Study IV were all recruited via the Facebook advertisement and participated in both groups of the C-RCT. Nine SOASPs were given within the project and participants from the eight first SOASPs were included in Study IV (n =91). Fifty-six participants were randomised to the intervention group of the C-RCT and 35 to the control group.

Randomisation

A randomisation 1:1 plan was generated from randomization.com. Block randomisation was used since the final number of randomisations needed was unknown. Seven blocks and 128 sealed envelopes (64 control and 64 intervention) were generated in total. EÖ handled the randomisation plan and EEH handled the sealed envelopes.

Each SOASP (from centres or within the project) was seen as a cluster and randomised as such. When EÖ received/decided the start date for upcoming SOASPs, a sealed envelope was used to randomise the SOASP to control or intervention. Hence, the SOASPs were consecutively randomised in date order. A total of 125 sealed envelopes were used; 63 SOASPs were randomised to intervention and 62 were randomised to control. The randomisation took place before participants were informed and recruited. The participants were informed about group allocation after they had self-registered to the project. Neither participants nor authors were blinded after the allocation to control or intervention. Figure 10 illustrates the progress through the phases of the C-RCT; enrolment, randomisation, and data collection, according to CONSORT guidelines (169).



¹ Health care centers

Figure 10. Flow of participants and progress of the cluster-randomised controlled trial.

Intervention

The C-RCT intervention (Study II) entailed self-monitoring PA with a WAT (a Fitbit Flex 2) for 12 consecutive weeks in addition to participating in the SOASP. The Fitbit Flex 2 is a wrist-worn commercial WAT that tracks and measures steps, distance, active minutes, energy expenditure and sleep. The device was connected to the Fitbit app, where participants created an account and entered personal information such as age, sex, weight and height. At the time of data collection in this project, the Fitbit app had default activity goals which could be manually altered. The default step goal was 10,000 steps per day but we decided to change this to 7,000 daily steps. This was changed due to the results from previous research showing that 7,000-8,000 steps might be equivalent to 150 minutes in MVPA per

week (129). It was also changed to make the step goal more more achievable for participants.

The Fitbits, together with instructions on installment and usage were given consecutively to the individuals in the intervention group at the time of their participation in the SOASP. In a few cases, the Fitbits, together with information, were sent by mail. A personal account was created for each participant and a step goal of 7,000 steps was entered. The participants gave informed consent (electronic identification) to tranfer data from the Fitbit to the projects' servers.

Participants were asked to monitor their activity by using the app on a daily basis. An example of a Fitbit app interface is illustrated in Figure 11. They were also asked to wear the Fitbit from morning to bedtime and to remember to charge the device when needed (approximately two times a week).



Figure 11. Example of the Fitbit app interface. (Picture from Fitbit.com).

Data collection and outcomes

We collected data using several different methods. Activity data was collected from the Fitbits used by the participants in the intervention group. Self-reported data on work ability, PA, work productivity, and joint function were collected via questionnaires at baseline and follow-up at 3, 6 and 12 months. Focus group discussions were conducted to collected data on participants' experiences and perceptions of WAT use and digital support. Lastly, molecular biomarkers in patient serum were collected from blood samples taken at baseline and follow-up at three months.

Study I

The outcomes in Study I were WAT-measured activity data, adherence to the WAT, and self-reported joint function. We obtained the activity information from the Fitbit's Web API, which allows third parties to access activity information from Fitbit devices (170). The information requested from the Fitbit's Web API were the number of steps and number of minutes in light, moderate, and vigorous activity for every minute of the previous day. Fitbit uses a proprietary algorithm to define the intensity of PA according to METs. MVPA or "active minutes" were achieved if an activity lasted more than 10 minutes and exceeded 3 METs (171). The validity and reliability of the Fitbit Flex and Fitbit Flex 2 has shown that the WATs overestimate the number of steps and time in MVPA compared to the actigraph commonly used in research (172–174). Adherence to Fitbit use was also collected where all days with >1,500 steps were seen as valid days and days with <1,500 steps were seen as missing.

Self-reported joint function was measured using the Hip Osteoarthritis and disability Outcome Score (HOOS) (175) for the participants with hip OA or Knee Osteoarthritis and injury Outcome Score (KOOS) (176) for those with knee OA. The HOOS/KOOS were provided in the questionnaire with the other self-reported outcomes in this project at baseline and at follow-up after 3, 6 and 12 months. HOOS/KOOS consists of several subscales: *Pain, Symptoms, Activities of Daily Living* (ADL), *Sport and Recreating function (sport/rec) and hip/knee-related Quality of Life (QoL)* (175,176). Each subscale is separately calculated, with 0 indicating extreme symptoms and 100 indicating no symptoms (177). HOOS/KOOS have shown adequate psychometric qualities for individuals with OA (178,179). Only baseline HOOS/KOOS was used in Study I.

Study II

Online questionnaires created in Sunet Survey were sent to participants' e-mails at baseline, and at follow-up after 3, 6 and 12 months. The questionnaires comprised self-reported instrument and questions about participant characteristics, their work, and PA.

The primary outcome variable of work ability was measured with the Work Ability Index (WAI), which contains questions about health, work demands, and sick leave (180). Higher WAI score indicate higher work ability and it can also be categorized into four different categories; poor, moderate, good, and excellent (181). It has shown acceptable predictive validity and test-retest reliability (182,183).

The two secondary outcome variables of PA and work productivity were measured with the International Physical Activity Questionnaire - Short Form (IPAQ-SF) (184) and Work Productivity and Activity Impairment Scale: Osteoarthritis (WPAI:OA) (185). IPAQ-SF is comprised of nine questions about time spent in moderate and high intensity, walking, and time spent sedentary in the last 7 days. The results were calculated according to the IPAQ-SF scoring protocol (186) and the outcome are MET-minutes/week and PA category score (low, moderate, or high). Only MET minutes were used in the analyses. WPAI:OA entails questions about OA-related work productivity, absence from work, and impairment during activities. Results were calculated and generated four types of scores: 1. *Absenteeism* (work time missed), 2. *Presenteeism* (impairment at work/ reduced on-the-job effectiveness), 3. *Work productivity loss* (overall work impairment/ absenteeism plus presenteeism), 4. *Activity impairment* (187).

Self-reported instruments on joint function and health-related quality of life were also filled out as a part of the questionnaires but not used in Study II.

Study III

Three focus group discussions with EÖ serving as a moderator and KS or EEH as assistants were conducted. A questioning route (188) was used with questions about experiences of using a WAT and general perceptions of digital support and mHealth in OA care. The questioning route consisted of (mainly open-ended) opening question, introductory questions, key questions and ending questions. Participants were encouraged to discuss among themselves and not with the moderator. The discussions were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim. At the end of each discussion, the assistant verbally summarized the content of the discussion and allowed the participants to comment or add information.

Study IV

Baseline serum samples were collected in conjunction with one of the lectures in the SOASPs offered within the project and a follow-up sample was collected after three months. They were collected at the health care centre where the lectures took place and analysed at the Biomedical Centre (BMC) at Lund University, Sweden.

Molecular biomarkers of cartilage (ARGS-aggrecan, C2C and COMP) and inflammation (CRP) were analysed. ARGS-aggrecan was quantified using electrochemiluminescence on Meso Scale Discovery platform (189), and COMP and C2C were quantified using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Serum CRP were quantified using Cobas platform's accredited method.

Self-reported data on joint function (HOOS or KOOS) collected in the online questionnaires at baseline and at follow-up after three months were used in Study IV. A more detailed description of this data collection is provided in Study I. WAT data from participants in the intervention group and self-reported data from the IPAQ-SF were also outcomes in Study IV. This data was also used in Study I and Study II and data collection is therefore described previously.

Analyses

In this thesis, several different types of data have been collected and different types of analyses have been utilized. Three of the papers used quantitative research methods and one paper used qualitative methods. All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS versions 25–27 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). The statistical significance level, alpha, was set to 0.05 in Studies I, II and IV. Descriptive statistics were presented as mean and standard deviation (SD), median and interquartile range (IQR), or proportions (%).

Studies I and II

Sample size

A sample size calculation was made for Study II with a power of 80% and a twotailed significance level of 0.05. The calculation was based on the primary outcome variable of 'work ability' measured via WAI. Effect sizes (between-group differences) were based on SD reported in previous studies (74,190) with the assumption of 0.45 SD as the minimal clinically-important difference (191). The sample size calculation showed that approximately 80 individuals per group were needed. Studies I and IV were of an exploratory design and therefore no sample size calculations were made. In Studies I and II, data was measured several times for each individual and linear mixed models (192) were used as the primary statistical method to analyse the data. In Study I, the number of steps and minutes in light PA (LPA) and MVPA per day during the 12-week intervention were analysed to explore the PA-pattern over time. The WAT-use calculated as percent of valid days per week was also analysed to explore adherence to the Fitbit. The linear trend shown as the (unstandardized) β -coefficient represents the average change per week during the 12-week period. The association between PA-data from WATs and self-reported data from HOOS/KOOS were also assessed using Spearman's rank correlation.

In Study II, data from WAI, IPAQ-SF and WPAI:OA were analysed. Data from IPAQ-SF and WPAI:OA were non-normally distributed and therefore logtransformed before the analyses. A linear mixed model was conducted with a firstorder autoregressive covariance structure to examine the effect of the intervention on the outcomes from baseline to the follow-up questionnaires at 3, 6 and 12 months. Group and time were added as fixed factors and the interaction group*time was added to assess the difference in pattern of change between the two groups. The differences between baseline and each follow-up for the three outcomes were also calculated and Analysis of Covariance (ANCOVA), with adjustments for the baseline value, was used to analyse the difference between baseline and each followup for WAI, IPAQ-SF and WPAI:OA (193). Mean adjusted differences and confidence intervals (CI) were calculated.

Study III

Qualitative content analysis using an inductive approach was applied to the data from the focus group discussions in Study III (194). All three transcribed focus group discussions were seen as a single unit of analysis, and they were read through several times by two of the authors (EÖ and KS). The software program NVivo (realised 2020) was used in the organization and coding process. Similar codes were grouped in sub-categories and similar sub-categories were grouped into main categories. Significant quotes were chosen to represent the different sub-categories.

Study IV

The differences between the baseline values and the 3-month follow-up values for molecular biomarkers, self-reported PA (IPAQ-SF), and self-reported function (HOOS/KOOS) were calculated. The variables were, in general, non-normally distributed and the Spearman's rank correlation was therefore used to evaluate the association between the variables. Fifty-three participants also had WAT-data and the association between the mean number of steps per day and the molecular biomarkers at three-month follow-up were also evaluated using Spearman's rank correlation.

Ethical considerations

The studies included in this thesis are all conducted as clinical research and several ethical considerations have been made in different phases of the project. All participants were included in the C-RCT, in Study II. The participants in the intervention group were not exposed to anything that was directly harmful, but WAT use may have some negative effects. To not be able to reach one's activity goal due to pain or other reasons might lead to feelings of discouragement for the user (195). Also, a rapid increase in the number of steps per day could lead to an increase in perceived pain. However, individuals that self-registered to the project received information that they should seek care at their health care centre if they experienced additional pain during their participation in this project. They could also always contact EÖ.

Another ethical consideration was that the participants had to create a Fitbit account and that the US-based company Fitbit gained access to their personal information and activity information. This was not optimal, but participants were aware of this and gave their consent using electronic ID. Moreover, nowadays it is probably more the rule than the exception that people share information with a plethora of different companies.

Participation in this project was voluntarily, participants self-registered and there was no patient–clinician contact between EÖ and the individuals that chose to register. In general, we believe that the benefits outweighed the small risks of harm in this project. Most participants were offered to take part in SOASP and those in the intervention group were provided with a WAT for three months. All participants received the core treatment in OA.

Ethical approval

The methods used in the studies in this thesis were performed in accordance with the WMA declaration of Helsinki (196). All participants received written information about the study and provided their informed consent with an electronic identification service before registering. There are ethical approvals for all four studies included in this thesis. Studies I and II were approved in 2017 by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund, Sweden (2017/596). In 2018, we also applied to recruit participants using a Facebook advertisement, to add additional questions to the intervention group, and to measure molecular biomarkers (Study IV). This was approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund, Sweden (2018/593 and 2019/00594). In 2019, we sought and received ethical approval for Study III from the Swedish Ethical Review Authority (2019-03691).

Results

Studies I and II: Physical activity levels and the effects of using an activity tracker

Study I

Participants in the intervention group of the C-RCT walked on average of 10,593 steps per day (SD 3,431) during the 12 weeks. The mean number of daily steps decreased slightly (but statistically significantly) during the 12 weeks, by 117 steps per week (β -coefficient -117 [95% CI -166 to -68] p = < 0.001). The highest number of daily steps was observed in week 2, at 11,162 (SD 3,830) steps and the lowest in week 11, at 9,589 (SD 3,169) steps (Figure 12).

The participants spent on average 48.1 (SD 35.5) minutes in MVPA per day during the intervention. Time spent in MVPA decreased gradually and statistically significantly over time (Figure 13). The decrease in daily MVPA was small, at 0.6 minutes/day per week (β -coefficient -0.6, [95% CI -1.01 to -0.16], p =0.008).



Figure 12. Mean (SD) daily steps for each week during the 12 week intervention (n =75).



Figure 13. Mean (SD) daily minutes in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) for each week during the 12 week intervention (n =75).

A similar pattern was seen regarding adherence to WAT use (Figure 14). The WAT was used, on average, 88.4 % (SD 11.6) of the intervention period with the highest mean adherence in week 2 (94.7%) and the lowest in week 12 (80.5%). The adherence gradually but slightly decreased over the 12 weeks (β -coefficient –1.3, [95% CI –1.8 to –0.8], p = <0.001).



Figure 14. Mean weekly adherence to WAT-use for each week during the 12 week intervention (n =75).

There were no statistically significant correlations between HOOS/KOOS subscales at baseline and PA (mean number of steps/day and minutes in LPA and MVPA/day) during the 12-week intervention.

Study II

A majority of the participants had good or excellent work ability at baseline, as measured via WAI, and were moderately or highly physically active according to IPAQ-SF (Table 3, baseline characteristics). The linear mixed model showed no statistically significant interaction between *group*time* for the primary outcome of work ability (p = 0.948). There was also no significant interaction for the secondary outcome variables of PA and three out of the four scores in WPAI:OA measuring work productivity. There was, however, a statistically significant effect for group*time for the WPAI:OA score *presenteeism*.

The results from the ANCOVA with adjustments for baseline values showed no statistically significant between-group differences regarding change in work ability or PA for any of the periods (baseline to 3, 6 or 12 month). There was a statistically significant difference between the groups regarding change from baseline to 3

months for WPAI:OA *presenteeism* and *work productivity loss* but not regarding change from baseline to the 6 or 12 month follow-ups. For the other two WPAI:OA scores, *absenteeism* and *activity impairment*, there were no statistically significant differences in changes. The results from the ANCOVA are presented in Tables 4 and 5.

OUTCOME	INTERVENTI	TERVENTION			BETWEEN GROUP DIFFERENCES		
	Mean (SD)	Adj.* change from baseline; mean [95% Cl]	Mean (SD)	Adj.* change from baseline; mean [95% Cl]	Adj.* difference; mean [95% Cl]	p	
WAI							
Baseline	40.1 (6.3)	n/a	41.6 (6.8)	n/a	n/a	n/a	
3-month	39.4 (7.3)	-0.6 [-1.9, 0.6]	41.0 (6.9)	-0.8 [-2.4, 0.8]	0.2 [-1.8, 2.1]	0.877	
6-month	39.1 (7.4)	-1.0 [-2.1, 0.2]	41.2 (6.2)	-1.4 [-2.8, 0.0]	0.4 [-1.4, 2.2]	0.650	
12-month	40.1 (6.4)	-0.6 [-1.7, 0.6]	40.2 (7.3)	-1.0 [-2.5, 0.4]	0.5 [-1.4, 2.3]	0.618	
MET- minutes/ week							
Baseline	3167 (2410)	n/a	2654 (1817)	n/a	n/a	n/a	
3-month	3471 (2395)	647 [146, 1148]	2864 (1908)	-95 [-698, 509]	741 [–44, 1526]	0.064	
6-month	3319 (2527)	365 [–191, 921]	2918 (1809)	139 [–530, 808]	226 [-653, 1104]	0.611	
12-month	2774 (2114)	-3 [-511, 505]	2636 (1714)	-136 [-763, 491]	133 [–679, 945]	0.745	

Table 4. Work ability and physical activity at all measurements. Changes within and differences between the groups from baseline to follow–ups.

Analysis of Covariance (ANCOVA) were performed to analyse the difference between the groups regarding change.

SD: standard deviation; CI: confidence interval; WAI: Work Ability Index; MET: Metabolic Equivalent of Task (from IPAQ-SF: International Physical Activity Questionnaire-short form

*Adjusted for baseline values.

OUTCOME	INTERVENTION		CONTROL		BETWEEN GROUP DIFFERENCES	
	Mean (SD)	Adj.* change from baseline; mean [95% Cl]	Mean (SD)	Adj.* change from baseline; mean [95% Cl]	Adj.* difference; mean [95% Cl]	p
Absenteeism			_			
Baseline	2.4 (14.1)	n/a	0.0 (0.0)	n/a	n/a	n/a
3-month	1.2 (6.9)	-0.6 [-2.3, 1.0]	0.3 (2.2)	-1.1 [-2.9, 0.7]	0.5 [-2.0, 2.9]	0.711
6-month	3.1 (12.1)	1.1 [-1.8, 4.0]	0.7 (2.9)	-0.9 [-4.4, 2.7]	2.0 [-2.6, 6.6]	0.390
12-month	3.8 (13.7)	2.1 [-1.5, 5.6]	1.7 (8.7)	0.2 [-4.3, 4.6]	1.9 [-3.8, 7.6]	0.508
Presenteeism						
Baseline	19.7 (25.7)	n/a	18.7 (24.9)	n/a	n/a	n/a
3-month	11.8 (20.2)	-8.1 [-13.1, -3.1]	19.8 (28.6)	3.1 [-3.1, 9.4]	-11.3 [-19.3 , - 3.2]	0.006
6-month	16.5 (24.6)	-2.8 [-8.8, 3.2]	13.9 (22.9)	-3.2 [-10.1, 3.7)	0.4 [-8.7, 9.5]	0.934
12-month	14.2 (20.8)	-0.5 [-5.8, 4.9]	18.9 (25.4)	4.2 [-2.3, 10.7]	-4.6 [-13.1, 3.8]	0.277
Work productivity loss						
Baseline	18.6 (24.9)	n/a	18.0 (24.7)	n/a	n/a	n/a
3-month	15.0 (22.5)	-6.1 [-12.1, -0.2]	18.9 (26.5)	3.2 [-3.5, 9.9]	-9.3 [-18.3, -0.4]	0.042
6-month	19.5 (26.9)	0.4 [-5.8, 6.7]	12.6 (19.9)	0.1 [-7.6, 7.8]	0.3 [-9.7, 10.3]	0.947
12-month	16.3 (24.8)	2.1 [-2.9, 7.2]	18.8 (23.6)	5.0 [-1.3, 11.3]	-2.9 [-10.9, 5.2]	0.481
Activity impairment						
Baseline	30.9 (24.7)	n/a	28.8 (23.4)	n/a	n/a	n/a
3-month	26.6 (27.0)	-4.4 [-9.5, 0.7]	26.1 (25.9)	-3.7 [-10.0, 2.7]	-0.7 [-8.8, 7.5]	0.868
6-month	35.6 (31.4)	5.9 [-0.7, 12.4]	25.1 (25.4)	-3.0 [-10.8, 4.8]	8.8 [-1.4, 19.0]	0.089
12-month	29.0 (29.4)	0.7 [-4.9, 6.3]	22.9 (21.0)	-3.3 [-10.3, 3.8]	4.0 [-5.0, 13.0]	0.382

Table 5. Work productivity at all measurements. Changes within and differences between the groups from baseline to follow-ups.

Analysis of Covariance (ANCOVA) were performed to analyze the difference between the groups regarding change. SD: standard deviation; CI: confidence interval; WPAI:OA: Work Productivity and Activity Impairment scale:

Osteoarthritis *Adjusted for baseline values.

Study III: Experiences and perceptions of Mobile Health and activity tracker use

In the analysis process, two main categories were identified; *WATs may aid in optimization of PA, but is not a panacea* and *Digital support is an appreciated part of OA care*. The main categories and their sub-categories are presented in Figure 15.



Figure 15. Main categories and sub-categories.

WATs may aid in optimization of PA, but is not a panacea

Contrasting experiences of WAT use during the interventions emerged in the focus group discussions. The sub-category *WATs facilitate PA* entails participants' experiences of being encouraged by the WAT and that the WAT facilitated PA, especially walking. Reaching the step goal was important and could encourage them to take an extra walk in the evening if they were some steps short of reaching it. The different feedback and prompts to move could be a useful reminder if they had been sedentary for some time. The content in the second sub-category, *Increased awareness of one's limitations* is characterised by expressions suggesting that participants became more aware of the relationships between PA and perceived pain. An individualized optimal number of steps could be identified. When staying within that limit, they experienced fewer pain flares and better continuity regarding exercise.

The third sub-category, *WATs are not always encouraging*, covers experiences of more negative aspects of WAT use that also emerged in the discussions. If pain limited their ability to walk at all and they were far from reaching their step goal, they were discouraged by the WAT instead of being encouraged. Other negative aspects were that the prompts might be disturbing if they were unable to move (sitting in a car for example) and that there was a risk of never feeling satisfied with the amount of PA achieved.

Digital support is an appreciated part of OA care

In general, the participants appreciated digital support in OA care but stated that, it should be offered as a part of traditional care including physical visits. The need for OA care to be delivered early in disease progression and for it to be individualized was highlighted and characterised in the sub-category *Individualized, early and continuous support*. They experienced that the SOASP was designed for older individuals and should be modified to also suit younger, working individuals with OA. The need for continuous care in OA was also expressed, and it was suggested that a combination between digital support and physical visits might be suitable.

The sub-category *PT* is essential but needs to be modernized describes participants' experiences of PTs having a central role in OA care. The participants expressed that they would gladly share activity information from WATs with the PT if it would improve their care. Exercise drawings were also discussed, participants preferred them in video instead of stick figures drawn on a paper.

Several desired features of digital support emerged in the discussions and these experiences and perceptions were gathered in sub-category *Easy, comprehensive, and reliable support*. It should be easy to use so that even those not interested in or having knowledge of technology can use the WAT or digital support. They also wanted WATs to be able to measure activity, sleep, to support weight loss, and to provide feedback and information. If the digital support or WAT measured activity, it should be reliable. They experienced that the WAT they used in the intervention, the Fitbit, did not measure all PA (cycling for instance), and that was experienced as frustrating.

Study IV: Associations of physical activity and molecular biomarkers

Descriptive results of the outcomes are presented in Table 6.

|--|

	BASELINE	FOLLOW-UP	CHANGE
	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)
Molecular biomarkers			
CRP (µg/ml)	1.30 (0.56–2.95)	1.35 (0.62–3.04)	-0.02 (-0.50-0.50)
ARGS (pmol/ml)	0.15 (0.12–0.17)	0.15 (0.12–0.17)	0.01 (-0.02-0.02)
COMP (ng/ml) ^a	800 (544–1051)	798 (576–1095)	11 (–109–134)
C2C (ng/ml)	194 (153–239)	214 (164–254)	2 (–20–36)
HOOS/KOOS			
Pain	61.1 (41.7–75.0)	66.7 (47.5–80.6)	5.55 (-2.8-15.0)
Symptoms	54.3 (35.7–67.9)	53.6 (42.9–71.4)	7.1 (-4.6-14.3)
ADL	72.1 (52.6–86.8)	76.7 (61.8–86.8)	1.5 (-6.8-8.8)
Sport/Recreation	30.0 (10.0–50.0)	30.0 (10.0–55.0)	0.0 (-11.9-10.0)
QoL	43.8 (29.7–56.3)	43.8 (31.3–61.5)	0.0 (-6.3-12.5)
IPAQ-SF			
MET-minutes/week	2337 (1395–4626)	2876 (1538–4334)	588 (-817-1677)

Abbreviations: ADL, activities of daily living; ARGS, neoepitope of aggrecan; C2C, collagen type II cleavage; COMP, cartilage oligomeric matrix protein; CRP, C-reactive

protein; HOOS, Hip disability and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score; IPAQ-SF, International Physical Activity Questionnaire–Short Form; IQR, interquartile range (Q1-Q3);

KOOS, Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score; MET, metabolic equivalent of tasks; QoL, hip/knee-related quality of life.

 $_{a}n$ = 85 for COMP follow-up due to one value below the lower limit of detection.

A weak negative correlation ($r_s = -0.256$, p = 0.040) was found between change in self-reported PA and change in COMP, but not for the other molecular biomarkers and self-reported PA (Table 7). There were also no significant correlations between change in self-reported joint function and change in molecular biomarkers (Table 7), or objectively measured steps per day and molecular biomarkers (Table 8).

	CRP rs	P	ARGS rs	Р	COMP rs	Р	C2C rs	Ρ
KOOS/HOOS (n = 83)								
Pain	0.016	0.886	0.096	0.389	-0.037	0.744	-0.095	0.391
Symptoms	-0.050	0.654	0.026	0.812	0.111	0.318	0.141	0.201
ADL	0.104	0.347	0.051	0.648	0.071	0.521	0.112	0.310
Sport/Rec	0.057	0.618	-0.003	0.978	-0.006	0.955	-0.105	0.356
QoL	0.206	0.060	0.171	0.120	0.032	0.777	-0.100	0.366
IPAQ-SF (n = 65)								
MET-minutes/week	0.107	0.390	-0.083	0.508	-0.256	0.040	-0.089	0.475

Table 7. Correlation (Spearman's Rho, r_s) between change in self-reported joint function/PA and change in molecular biomarkers.

PA physical activity; CRP C-reactive protein; ARGS neoepitope of aggrecan; COMP cartilage oligomeric matrix protein; C2C collagen type II cleavage; KOOS knee injury and osteoarthritis outcome score; HOOS hip disability and osteoarthritis outcome score; ADL Activities of daily living; QoL knee/hip-related quality of life; IPAQ-SF international physical activity questionnaire – short form; MET metabolic equivalent of tasks

Table 8. Correlation (Spearman's Rho, r_s) between the average number of steps per day for 12 weeks and molecular biomarkers at three month follow-up (n = 51).

	CRP r₅	Р	ARGS rs	Р	COMP rs	Р	C2C r₅	Р
Steps/day	0.034	0.811	-0.163	0.254	0.024	0.865	0.113	0.430

CRP C-reactive protein; ARGS neoepitope of aggrecan; COMP cartilage oligomeric matrix protein; C2C collagen type II cleavage

Discussion

Main findings

The outcomes in this thesis represents several different domaines in the ICF–from body function on a molecular level (biomarkers) to activities and participation (PA and work ability). The intervention in the C-RCT showed no statistically significant effect on work ability, PA, or work productivity compared to the SOASP alone. A majority of the individuals in the intervention group were physically actitive >150 minutes per week and had high adherence to using the WAT, although PA levels and adherence decreased slightly during the 12-week intervention. Experiences and perceptions that WATs facilitated PA and that digital support in OA care was appreciated were highlighted during the focus group discussions. No or only weak statistically significant correlations were found between PA, joint function, and molecular biomarkers.

Physical activity and work ability in hip and knee osteoarthritis

The hypothesis in Study II that self-monitoring PA in addition to participating in the SOASP would improve/increase work ability, PA, and work productivity compared to the SOASP alone was not supported. Previous research on WAT use in interventions has mainly focused on the effect on PA level and, to our knowledge, no study has examined the effect on work ability or work productivity. Several meta-analyses have shown that interventions with WATs are effective in increasing PA in different populations, which contrasts with the results of Study II (158–160,162). We believe that one important explanation for this is that the participants in our project already were highly physically active at baseline. The PA level in this study is in line with data from the BOA registry in 2019 showing higher PA levels in Swedish than in US populations (94,133,135).

The data from the WATs also showed a high level of objectively measured PA in the intervention group, although there was a slight decrease during the 12 weeks. Having a step goal of 7,000 steps might also have limited the increase in PA in the intervention group compared to the control group. A recent study, albeit in healthy young women, showed that participants were adherent to the given step goal. Those who had been given a higher step goal in that study took significantly more steps than those who had been given a lower step goal (197). We can only speculate whether the participants in the intervention group might have had even higher levels of PA with a higher step goal.

Previous research has shown that pain and functional limitations might be barriers to engaging in PA (71,198), but in this project, the participants had better self-reported function compared to other individuals with OA. This could be a contributing factor explaining the high PA levels at baseline (179).

Some previous studies have focused on the importance of increasing PA and on finding the minimal level of PA to gain health benefits (199) but there are also published studies suggesting a potential U-shaped dose response relationship between PA and OA progression (200). Doré et al. (200) showed that too much weightbearing PA might be detrimental in knee OA, particularly if structural changes already exist. This U-shaped relationship has also been suggested in animal studies, where a high daily dose of PA had a negative impact on the cartilage matrix composition while a moderate dose of PA had a positive impact (201). In this project, the participants in the focus group discussions described that selfmonitoring PA with a WAT had helped them realize how many steps per day were optimal in relation to their perceived pain and wellbeing. This corresponds with results from other qualitative studies where individuals with OA expressed that selfmonitoring PA could be helpful in finding the optimal amount of PA (195).

The primary outcome in the C-RCT was self-reported work ability measured with WAI. To our knowledge, there are no causal pathways between WAT-use and work ability/work productivity, but PA can improve pain, function and quality of life (123) which might in turn affect health and potentially work ability in individuals with OA. However, work ability and work productivity are dependent on the interaction between several factors: for example, work assignments, health, and individual characteristics (202). Given the characteristics of OA and the functional limitations it might lead to, having a physically demanding job might affect work ability to a higher extent than a less demanding type of work (25,60,74). Furthermore, being able to reduce or adjust work assignments when ill (high adjustment latitude), might enable the employee to remain at work (203). In this project, less than one third of participants had physically demanding work tasks and their work ability might have been lower if they had more physically demanding work (58,204,205). We did not study work adjustments within this project.

The participants' work ability was on average categorised as *good* according to WAI, which might also have limited the possibility for improvements. Their work ability might also have been affected by other factors which are unknown to us, such as other diseases, or work-related or personal factors. Several different domains of work productivity were measured with WPAI:OA in the C-RCT and presenteeism/impairment at work were more common than absenteeism. This result is in line with previous research showing that individuals with OA may experience some difficulties at work but are not absent (54,69,206). In the C-RCT, a statistically

significant difference between the groups in change from baseline to 3 month follow-up were present for WPAI:OA *presenteeism* and *impairment at work* in favour of the intervention group. This could indicate an effect of the intervention, but the results were not consistent throughout the remaining follow-ups. For *presenteeism*, there was a significant interaction (group*time) effect, but not for *impairment at work*.

There was a statistically significant *within-group* increase in PA (baseline to 3 month follow-up) for the intervention group, but no statistically differences *between-group differences* in PA change. There were no significant *within-group* changes for the other periods (baseline to 6 and 12 month follow-up). Hence, the within-group result should be interpreted with caution.

Mobile Health and activity monitoring

Although the intervention did not have superior effect on work ability, PA and work productivity compared to control, the results from Studies I and III highlight the potential value of WAT use for individuals with OA. In Study I, data from the WATs used in the intervention group were analysed and the results indicated a high PA level and high adherence to using the device throughout the 12-week intervention. Even though adherence was high in Study I, previous research has reported slightly higher adherence to WAT use in other interventions (163). One explanation for this might be that the participants in previous studies had follow-ups which was not the case in our intervention (207,208).

Although the adherence and PA were high throughout the intervention, there was a slight but statistically significant decrease over time. This is also reported in previous research, especially in studies with longer interventions and those without follow-ups or booster sessions (209,210). Having a positive attitude towards technology seems to be an important factor in remaining adherent to WAT use over time (209,211). This was echoed by the participants in the focus group discussions in Study III. They expressed that an interest in technology facilitated WAT use in the beginning and that technical malfunction, battery charging issues, etc. made them lose interest. Similar results were reported in a US study where former WAT users expressed reasons to stop using the WAT: they became bored using it, the device broke, and it was uncomfortable to wear (211).

The high adherence of WAT-use in this project could indicate that the Fitbits were well accepted by the participants, a conception which also emerged in the discussions. They experienced that the WAT facilitated PA and that they became aware of a connection between pain flares, health, and the number of steps they took. These results are in line with previous qualitative research, and with interventional studies examining the effect of WAT use (156,195,211). Finding the optimal level of PA was highlighted in all three focus groups, and this might be

particularly important for individuals with OA. Pain might be a limiting factor to participating in PA and other activities, but at the same time, PA and other weightbearing activities might induce pain which could render a catch-22 situation (71).

Finding a PA level that does not increase pain might facilitate continuous PA and improve health in the long run. Other types of activities than walking; cycling or water-based exercise, for example, might be better accepted for some individuals with hip and knee OA (212,213). However, some WATs (including the Fitbit used in this project) do not measure all PA as well as they measure ambulatory activities (214). This limitation also emerged in the focus group discussions where the participants expressed that they felt frustrated when not receiving credit from the WAT for cycling 20 minutes. WAT use can also be discouraging for those who are unable to walk due to pain. That this could have a negative impact, has also been reported previously (195,215).

mHealth is an important domain in this thesis, especially regarding the use of WATs, but also to gain increased knowledge of individuals' perceptions of mHealth and digital support in OA care. mHealth seemed to be appreciated in general, but was preferred as part of traditional, in-person health care. One hybrid solution could be to share activity data with treating health care professionals. In a previous qualitative study on OA management, patients expressed that sharing their PA data would increase health care professionals' knowledge about their patients and might improve treatment (216). This result was echoed in our discussions. If the PA data from WATs were handled in a secure way and only by treating PT, they were positive towards the idea of sharing data.

Other opinions about mHealth and digital support in OA care were that OA care should be individualized, early, continuous, and comprehensive. To reduce the risk of, for example, avoidance of activities and comorbidities, offering early and continuous care might be beneficial (65). A recent narrative review on predictors and measures of adherence to the core treatment in OA recommended long term monitoring and a patient-centred approach taking the individual's goals, abilities, and barriers into consideration (217). Booster sessions and the use of BCTs to increase adherence were also recommended in the review.

The BCTs incorporated in the Fitbit were appreciated by the participants in Study III. They talked about the importance of the step goal, the positive feedback when they reached their goal and that the prompts reminded them to move when sedentary. These BCTs have also shown to be some of the most effective BCTs in increasing PA in recent systematic reviews (138,142).

Physical activity and molecular biomarkers

In Study IV, the associations between PA, joint function, and molecular biomarkers were explored and, with the exceptions of a weak correlation between change in self-reported PA and change in COMP, no statistically significantly associations were found and all correlation coefficients were weak or close to zero. Molecular biomarkers in OA are a relatively new research area that might be clinically useful in diagnosing and monitoring the effect of treatments on the disease (38). However, few studies have reported any clear associations between PA and molecular biomarkers in OA populations (23).

A systematic review and meta-analysis showed that the inflammatory marker CRP decreased after exercise, which contrasts with the results of this project (218). However, the greatest improvements in CRP levels in that review were had by individuals who also reduced their BMI/body fat. The participants included in Study IV were on average only slightly overweight and probably had no major changes in weight from baseline to follow-up. Another possible explanatory factor was the low mean CRP-level at baseline with little change to follow-up. Taken together, these factors might explain the non-associations between CRP and PA/function.

The cartilage biomarkers ARGS-aggrecan and C2C had differences close to zero between the baseline and follow-up measurements, while self-reported PA increased slightly. The results are in line with those from a previous study which showed that ARGS-aggrecan might not be sensitive to PA (219).

The third cartilage biomarker included in study IV was COMP. Change in COMP did have a weak but statistically significant negative correlation with change in self-reported PA, indicating that an increase in PA was associated with a decrease in COMP. A similar result was seen in a pilot-RCT where individuals with OA participating in a 10-week intervention with strengthening exercises had significantly reduced COMP-levels compared to controls at follow-up (220).

Methodological considerations

Participants in all four studies were recruited for the C-RCT (Study II) but the combination of different methodological approaches yielded a broader perspective on the studied phenomena (221). The use of a RCT-design in Study II provides a higher level of evidence compared to most other study designs (222) and was added to the clinical trials registry (No: NCT03354091) before recruitment was initiated. The cluster-randomisation design in Study II was chosen to limit the interference between the intervention and control group (223). To improve transparency and the structure when reporting the C-RCT, CONSORT was followed (169).

Participants in the same SOASP met each other several times and each SOASP was therefore cluster-randomised to avoid having participants from both control and intervention groups in the same SOASP. However, it did also contribute to the somewhat unequal group size due to the difference in number of participants in each randomised SOASP. Most SOASPs at health care centres only had one or two participants while the SOASPs offered within the project had up to fifteen participants. Due to the high number of health care centres, PTs, and SOASPs in this project, we were unable to retrieve reliable information on the number of eligible individuals that received information about the project.

There were also other limitations of the design of the C-RCT which may have reduced the internal and external validity of the results in this thesis. The recruitment of participants in this project was not optimal. The initial recruitment plan had to be reinforced by an advertisement on Facebook. The positive aspects of doing this was that the inclusion rate increased considerably, but a self-selection bias was probably also introduced which might have had an effect on the results in this project (224). First, the advertisement reached only those who used Facebook. Second, only those interested in the information about the project followed the link and e-mailed EÖ to receive additional information.

Taken together, we believe that the individuals who eventually self-registered to the project already had an interest in PA and WATs. This was partly confirmed later in the project when we found that 40% of participants already owned and used a WAT. The participants also had good work ability and were already highly physically active at baseline, factors which could be due to the recruitment method. Consequently, the high baseline values limit the possibility for improvements, and we therefore believe that selection bias might have affected the results of this project. It might not be reasonable to think that the primary outcome of work ability could improve when the baseline values already showed that a majority of the participants already had good or excellent work ability.

Furthermore, the content in the intervention and control was not identical for all individuals. Those recruited from different health care centres had already participated in SOASP. Consequently, SOASP had to be offered within the project to participants recruited via Facebook advertisements. Due to differences in the health care centres, SOASP delivery, different PTs, and other unforeseen aspects, treatment was not identical which might have affected the studies' internal validity (225).

SOASPs offered within this project were held by EÖ and hence, there was some patient/clinician contacts for many of the participants. This might have influenced participants' responses to the questionnaires and the opinions they expressed in the focus group discussions. However, the questionnaires or focus group discussions did not entail questions regarding EÖ's role in the project. Another limitation of the C-RCT was that there was no blinding. Due to the nature of the intervention, it was

not possible to blind the participants to what group they were in. The data was, however, collected objectively through online questionnaires.

The different studies covered several components of the ICF from function/structure on a molecular level to participation in work and PA. The outcome measures we used have, in general, high psychometric properties although the IPAQ primarily is recommended for large population-studies and not RCTs (186). Furthermore, the WAT used in this project, the Fitbit Flex 2, has limitations in measuring PA in a free-living setting (172–174). However, we believe that the device had sufficient properties to justify its use in this project; to self-monitoring PA and measuring PA patterns. PA was also measured objectively during a longer period and the PROMs had several follow-ups, which probably strengthens the studies' internal validity (225). In the qualitative study, measures to achieve trustworthiness were considered throughout the study period and the COREQ checklist was used when reporting results (226). The results from the focus group study may also have been affected by the recruitment of participants that are already positive towards WAT use and are physically active.

In this thesis, there were several collaborations with researchers from different areas which we consider a strength. Study IV was also conducted within a new and promising area in need of more research. However, a limitation of that study was that additional variables that could have affected the molecular biomarkers were not collected. BMI was collected for some of the participants subsequently but information regarding (among others) smoking, intake of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and recent exercise were lacking. Since these variables are unknown, they cannot be controlled for. However, possible confounders probably have less effect on the associations between *changes* in the outcomes than on cross-sectional associations.

Conclusion

Self-monitoring PA with a WAT did not have any significant effect on work ability, PA, or work productivity. However, the WATs seemed to be well-accepted by the participants, as illustrated by their high adherence to using WATs throughout the intervention. The slight decrease in both adherence and PA might, however, suggest the need for follow-ups or booster sessions. The participants already at baseline had good work ability, were highly physically active and many already used a WAT. This might have limited the possibilities for improvement and of detecting any effect of the intervention.

Participants expressed that WATs facilitated PA and helped them see a connection between PA level, pain, and health, although negative opinions also emerged. WATs and digital support in OA care was perceived as helpful when used in a hybrid form with traditional in-person care. Individualized, comprehensive, and reliable were some of the wanted features of digital support in OA care.

Molecular biomarkers could potentially be clinically useful in diagnosing and monitoring treatment effects in OA care, but we cannot make any recommendations based on the findings in this thesis. The limitations in data collection might have affected the results and additional research in this area might be warranted.

Clinical implications

The future of OA care will most likely be a hybrid between traditional in-person care and digital care. Since OA is a chronic, often slow-progressing disease, digital support with self-management could be an essential part of the treatment. This might offer more continuous care, which could have positive long-term effects on health and work ability. The SOASP might also need to be adjusted to the requirements of younger, working individuals.

Although self-monitoring PA with a WAT did not have any effects on the outcomes in the C-RCT, high adherence throughout the intervention in combination with the participants' positive experiences implies that WATs may be appreciated as a facilitator of PA in some cases and as an aid in optimizing PA in other cases. In primary care, patients with OA often meet with a PT and are offered advice about PA and exercise. We suggest that WATs might be used as an aid to facilitate or optimize PA for these patients. One future possibility is that health care centres or other clinics lease or lend WATs to patients during a period. Patients should also be offered individualized, comprehensive care with achievable activity goals and follow-up visits with the PT.

The participants had, on average, good work ability and low absence from work but higher levels of self-reported impairment at work, or *presenteeism*, due to their OA. Impairment at work might have consequences both for the individual, the employer and society at large. The results of this thesis supports the idea that PTs and other health care professionals treating individuals with hip and knee OA talk about the patient's work and possible difficulties. Patients might need work accommodation or other work assignments to reduce their impairment at work.

Future perspectives

Based on the results from this thesis, we have identified several areas in which future research are needed. We have also identified several limitations in the C-RCT and suggest that similar research studies are conducted in different settings.

- We suggest that the intervention in this study could be repeated with some alterations: target individuals (could be different populations) in primary care identified as having low PA. The individuals meet with a PT, set activity goals, borrow a WAT for 3 months and have a follow-up visit. PA before and after WAT use could be measured with an actigraph, possibly in combination with an exercise diary.
- Work presenteeism seems to be common for individuals with OA-do some individuals with OA need more adjustments or work relocation? We suggest that factors related to sick leave in hip and knee OA are explored, especially occupational factors.
- Explore already existing WATs. Could digital support in OA care be combined with a WAT? What might be supported by the primary health care system?
- The use of molecular biomarkers in hip and knee OA care needs to be further explored. Based on the findings in this study, we suggest that future research focuses on the association between the cartilage biomarker COMP and PA, preferably with a RCT design.
- Future research should explore the effect of finding the optimal individual PA level for individuals with hip and knee OA. Work ability, work productivity and health-related quality of life, pain and function might be important outcomes.

Acknowledgements

There are many people that I would like to acknowledge for the support throughout my PhD studies and for making this thesis a reality.

Primarily, I would like to thank all the **participants** who willingly gave their time, blood, and experiences in this project. Without you, this thesis would not exist. I have learned so much from you.

I would also like to thank the many **physiotherapists** at different health care centres and clinics in Skåne and Halland for helping me recruit participants to this project.

Thank you **Madeleine Bergström**, OA communicator at the Swedish Rheumatism Association for attending nine SOASPs and sharing your experiences of living with OA.

Eva Ekvall Hansson, my main supervisor, thank you for giving me the opportunity to become a PhD student. You have supported and believed in me throughout these years, and I appreciate your optimism and cooperative skills. With your knowledge, you have guided me through ethical applications and funding applications and have always kept the door open for my (many) questions.

Kjerstin Stigmar, one of my two excellent co-supervisors, thank you for being my supervisor during both my master's thesis and now in my PhD studies. You are always supportive and generous in sharing your expertise, especially in work ability and qualitative research.

Frida Eek, my other excellent co-supervisor, thank you for patiently and quickly sharing your knowledge, especially in research methodology and statistics. I could never have done the statistical analyses without you.

Anita Sant'Anna, one of my co-authors, thank you for all your help with the webpage, the Fitbits, data collection, analyses and helpful feedback in manuscript writing etc. I really appreciated all your support and your patience with me in the beginning. You have thought me so much.

André Struglics, my other co-author, thank you for all the work you have done to make study IV possible. I never imagined me being at BMC analysing serum samples but thanks to you and Eva I have gained experiences that few physiotherapists have. I will never be an expert in molecular biomarkers but now I have some basic knowledge at least.

I would also like to thank **Mina Davoudi** and **Staffan Larsson** for being so welcoming and guiding me through all of the steps in handling and analysing the samples.

Thank you **Susanne Ullén**, statistician, for helping me with some of the more complex statistical methods used in this thesis.

My fellow PhD students, it has been a privilege to do this journey together with you. I would especially like to thank **Sonja Marforio Andersson, Karin Sturesdotter** Åkesson, Håkan Carlsson and Agneta Hagren for our fruitful discussions, support, feedback, lunches, and parties.

Thank you also **Thérése Jönsson**, my previous fellow PhD student and OA-expert for pleasant walk's, talks, advices and answers to my many questions.

Thank you **Christina Brogårdh** for all the feedback and support you have provided throughout my time as a PhD-student, you are always friendly and very knowledgeable in academic writing. Thank you for agreeing to be the chairperson at my dissertation.

Anna Trulsson, thank you for the helpful feedback you gave at my half-time review and for being such a nice colleague.

Thank you to all of my other kind and caring colleagues in our corridor at HSC, especially **Anne, Jeanette, Maria, Ingrid and Susanne** for the talks, advices and company at lunch and "fika".

I would also like to thank my colleagues in **Dalby**, especially my physiotherapistcolleagues for helping me recruit participants and the assistant nurses at lab for helping me with the data collection in study IV. I couldn't have done it without you!

My manager **Sara Persson**, thank you for giving me the opportunity to do a PhD and to collect some of the data at the health care centre. I have learned a lot these past five years which I hope will benefit the health care centre in the future.

Thank you to all of my **friends** for your friendship and support and for listening to me trying to explain what it is that I have done in the last five years!

Thank you to my sister-in-law **Malin Bunnstad** and my mother-in-law **Solweig Håkansson** for your support and for taking care of our children when needed.

My brother **Erik Östlind** and my sister-in-law **Karolin Östlind**, thank you for your loving support and an extra big thank you to **Karolin** for your proofreading of manuscripts, quotes, questioning route etc., it has been very valuable to have a kind US-born sister-in-law!

My big sister **Sofie Lindqvist**, my best friend, "therapist", and artist. Thank you for always being there for me and for agreeing to paint the beautiful cover of this thesis.
My dad **Lennart Hansson**, thank you for your support throughout my life. I wish you could have been there at my dissertation. I miss you.

My mom **Anita Östlind**, thank you for always being there for me, for taking care of baby Theodor during the lectures in my master's education, for proofreading texts, listening to presentations and so much more...

My husband **Christoffer Östlind** and my children **Tove**, and **Theodor**. Thank you for your love, support practical help and for teaching me what is most important in life. I couldn't have done this without you. I love you. (Also, thank you to Smilla, our kind and lazy Ragdoll for keeping me company and for making me laugh during the lonely work-at-home days during the pandemic.)

This thesis was supported by a grant from the Swedish Research Council.

References

- Dobson GP, Letson HL, Grant A, McEwen P, Hazratwala K, Wilkinson M, et al. Defining the osteoarthritis patient: back to the future. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2018 Aug;26(8):1003–7.
- 2. Aspden RM, Saunders FR. Osteoarthritis as an organ disease: from the cradle to the grave. Eur Cell Mater. 2019 Jan 30;37:74–87.
- 3. Litwic A, Edwards MH, Dennison EM, Cooper C. Epidemiology and burden of osteoarthritis. British Medical Bulletin. 2013;105(1):185–99.
- 4. Fox AJS, Bedi A, Rodeo SA. The Basic Science of Articular Cartilage: Structure, Composition, and Function. Sports Health. 2009 Nov;1(6):461.
- 5. Man GS, Mologhianu G. Osteoarthritis pathogenesis a complex process that involves the entire joint. Journal of medicine and life. 2014;7(1):37–41.
- 6. Goldring MB, Marcu KB. Cartilage homeostasis in health and rheumatic diseases. Arthritis Res Ther. 2009;11(3):224.
- 7. Akkiraju H, Nohe A. Role of Chondrocytes in Cartilage Formation, Progression of Osteoarthritis and Cartilage Regeneration. J Dev Biol. 2015 Dec;3(4):177–92.
- Mahjoub M, Berenbaum F, Houard X. Why subchondral bone in osteoarthritis? The importance of the cartilage bone interface in osteoarthritis. Osteoporosis International. 2012 Dec 1;23(8):841–6.
- 9. Loeser RF, Goldring SR, Scanzello CR, Goldring MB. Osteoarthritis: a disease of the joint as an organ. Arthritis Rheum. 2012 Jun;64(6):1697–707.
- 10. Wenham CYJ, Conaghan PG. The role of synovitis in osteoarthritis. Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis. 2010 Dec;2(6):349–59.
- Neogi T, Guermazi A, Roemer F, Nevitt MC, Scholz J, Arendt-Nielsen L, et al. Association of Joint Inflammation With Pain Sensitization in Knee Osteoarthritis: The Multicenter Osteoarthritis Study. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2016 Mar;68(3):654–61.
- 12. Lloyd-Roberts GC. The role of capsular changes in osteoarthritis of the hip joint. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1953 Nov;35-B(4):627–42.
- Pauli C, Grogan SP, Patil S, Otsuki S, Hasegawa A, Koziol J, et al. Macroscopic and histopathologic analysis of human knee menisci in aging and osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2011 Sep;19(9):1132–41.
- 14. Kellgren JH, Lawrence JS. Radiological assessment of osteo-arthrosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 1957 Dec;16(4):494–502.
- 15. Robinson WH, Lepus CM, Wang Q, Raghu H, Mao R, Lindstrom TM, et al. Lowgrade inflammation as a key mediator of the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Nature Reviews Rheumatology. 2016 Oct 1;12(10):580–92.

- 16. Allen KD, Thoma LM, Golightly YM. Epidemiology of osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2021 Sep 14;S1063-4584(21)00886-4.
- 17. Kapoor M, Martel-Pelletier J, Lajeunesse D, Pelletier JP, Fahmi H. Role of proinflammatory cytokines in the pathophysiology of osteoarthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2011 Jan;7(1):33–42.
- 18. Sohn DH, Sokolove J, Sharpe O, Erhart JC, Chandra PE, Lahey LJ, et al. Plasma proteins present in osteoarthritic synovial fluid can stimulate cytokine production via Toll-like receptor 4. Arthritis Res Ther. 2012 Jan 8;14(1):R7.
- 19. Suri P, Morgenroth DC, Hunter DJ. Epidemiology of osteoarthritis and associated comorbidities. PM R. 2012 May;4(5 Suppl):S10-19.
- 20. Poulsen E, Goncalves GH, Bricca A, Roos EM, Thorlund JB, Juhl CB. Knee osteoarthritis risk is increased 4-6 fold after knee injury a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2019 Dec 1;53(23):1454.
- 21. Struglics A, Larsson S, Kumahashi N, Frobell R, Lohmander LS. Changes in Cytokines and Aggrecan ARGS Neoepitope in Synovial Fluid and Serum and in C-Terminal Crosslinking Telopeptide of Type II Collagen and N-Terminal Crosslinking Telopeptide of Type I Collagen in Urine Over Five Years After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Rupture: An Exploratory Analysis in the Knee Anterior Cruciate Ligament, Nonsurgical Versus Surgical Treatment Trial. Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, NJ). 2015 Jul;67(7):1816–25.
- 22. Bricca A, Juhl CB, Steultjens M, Wirth W, Roos EM. Impact of exercise on articular cartilage in people at risk of, or with established, knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials. British journal of sports medicine. 2019 Aug;53(15):940–7.
- 23. Bricca A, Struglics A, Larsson S, Steultjens M, Juhl CB, Roos EM. Impact of Exercise Therapy on Molecular Biomarkers Related to Cartilage and Inflammation in Individuals at Risk of, or With Established, Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019 Nov;71(11):1504–15.
- Alentorn-Geli E, Samuelsson K, Musahl V, Green CL, Bhandari M, Karlsson J. The Association of Recreational and Competitive Running With Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2017 Jun;47(6):373–90.
- 25. Hubertsson J, Turkiewicz A, Petersson IF, Englund M. Understanding Occupation, Sick Leave, and Disability Pension Due to Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis From a Sex Perspective. Arthritis care & research. 2017 Feb;69(2):226–33.
- 26. Canetti EFD, Schram B, Orr RM, Knapik J, Pope R. Risk factors for development of lower limb osteoarthritis in physically demanding occupations: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Appl Ergon. 2020 Jul;86:103097.
- 27. Blagojevic M, Jinks C, Jeffery A, Jordan KP. Risk factors for onset of osteoarthritis of the knee in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2010 Jan;18(1):24–33.
- 28. Safiri S, Kolahi AA, Cross M, Hill C, Smith E, Carson-Chahhoud K, et al. Prevalence, Deaths, and Disability-Adjusted Life Years Due to Musculoskeletal

Disorders for 195 Countries and Territories 1990–2017. Arthritis & Rheumatology. 2021 Apr 1;73(4):702–14.

- 29. Cross M, Smith E, Hoy D, Nolte S, Ackerman I, Fransen M, et al. The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2014;73(7):1323.
- 30. Fu M, Zhou H, Li Y, Jin H, Liu X. Global, regional, and national burdens of hip osteoarthritis from 1990 to 2019: estimates from the 2019 Global Burden of Disease Study. Arthritis Res Ther. 2022 Jan 3;24(1):8.
- 31. Ackerman IN, Kemp JL, Crossley KM, Culvenor AG, Hinman RS. Hip and knee osteoarthritis affects younger people, too. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy. 2017;47(2):67–79.
- 32. Hunter DJ, Bierma-Zeinstra S. Osteoarthritis. Lancet. 2019 Apr 27;393(10182):1745–59.
- 33. Tian Y, Cui S, Guo Y, Zhao N, Gan Y, Zhou Y, et al. Similarities and differences of estrogen in the regulation of temporomandibular joint osteoarthritis and knee osteoarthritis. Histol Histopathol. 2022 May;37(5):415–22.
- Lotz M, Martel-Pelletier J, Christiansen C, Brandi ML, Bruyère O, Chapurlat R, et al. Republished: Value of biomarkers in osteoarthritis: current status and perspectives. Postgrad Med J. 2014 Mar;90(1061):171–8.
- Kraus VB, Karsdal MA. Foundations of osteoarthritis section 3: clinical monitoring in OA chapter 15: biomarkers. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2021 Sep 16;S1063-4584(21)00883-9.
- Biomarkers Definitions Working Group. Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2001 Mar;69(3):89–95.
- 37. Hunter DJ, Nevitt M, Losina E, Kraus V. Biomarkers for osteoarthritis: Current position and steps towards further validation. Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology. 2014 Feb;28(1):61–71.
- Convill JG, Tawy GF, Freemont AJ, Biant LC. Clinically Relevant Molecular Biomarkers for Use in Human Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review. Cartilage. 2021 Dec;13(1_suppl):1511S-1531S.
- Kraus VB, Nevitt M, Sandell LJ. Summary of the OA biomarkers workshop 2009 biochemical biomarkers: biology, validation, and clinical studies. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2010 Jun 1;18(6):742–5.
- 40. Germaschewski FM, Matheny CJ, Larkin J, Liu F, Thomas LR, Saunders JS, et al. Quantitation OF ARGS aggrecan fragments in synovial fluid, serum and urine from osteoarthritis patients. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2014 May 1;22(5):690–7.
- Kumahashi N, Swärd P, Larsson S, Lohmander LS, Frobell R, Struglics A. Type II collagen C2C epitope in human synovial fluid and serum after knee injury-associations with molecular and structural markers of injury. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2015 Sep;23(9):1506–12.
- 42. Cahue S, Sharma L, Dunlop D, Ionescu M, Song J, Lobanok T, et al. The ratio of type II collagen breakdown to synthesis and its relationship with the progression of knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2007 Jul;15(7):819–23.

- 43. Erhart-Hledik JC, Favre J, Asay JL, Smith RL, Giori NJ, Mündermann A, et al. A relationship between mechanically-induced changes in serum cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) and changes in cartilage thickness after 5 years. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2012 Nov;20(11):1309–15.
- 44. Bjerre-Bastos JJ, Nielsen HB, Andersen JR, Karsdal M, Boesen M, Mackey AL, et al. A biomarker perspective on the acute effect of exercise with and without impact on joint tissue turnover: an exploratory randomized cross-over study. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2021 Oct;121(10):2799–809.
- 45. Jin X, Beguerie JR, Zhang W, Blizzard L, Otahal P, Jones G, et al. Circulating C reactive protein in osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015 Apr;74(4):703–10.
- 46. Pereira D, Peleteiro B, Araújo J, Branco J, Santos RA, Ramos E. The effect of osteoarthritis definition on prevalence and incidence estimates: a systematic review. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2011 Nov 1;19(11):1270–85.
- Kim C, Linsenmeyer KD, Vlad SC, Guermazi A, Clancy MM, Niu J, et al. Prevalence of radiographic and symptomatic hip osteoarthritis in an urban United States community: the Framingham osteoarthritis study. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2014 Nov;66(11):3013–7.
- Jordan JM, Helmick CG, Renner JB, Luta G, Dragomir AD, Woodard J, et al. Prevalence of hip symptoms and radiographic and symptomatic hip osteoarthritis in African Americans and Caucasians: the Johnston County Osteoarthritis Project. J Rheumatol. 2009 Apr;36(4):809–15.
- Blanco FJ, Silva-Díaz M, Quevedo Vila V, Seoane-Mato D, Pérez Ruiz F, Juan-Mas A, et al. Prevalence of symptomatic osteoarthritis in Spain: EPISER2016 study. Reumatol Clin (Engl Ed). 2021 Oct;17(8):461–70.
- 50. Turkiewicz A, Petersson IF, Bjork J, Hawker G, Dahlberg LE, Lohmander LS, et al. Current and future impact of osteoarthritis on health care: a population-based study with projections to year 2032. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2014 Nov;22(11):1826–32.
- 51. Cui A, Li H, Wang D, Zhong J, Chen Y, Lu H. Global, regional prevalence, incidence and risk factors of knee osteoarthritis in population-based studies. EClinicalMedicine. 2020 Dec;29–30:100587.
- 52. Jordan JM, Helmick CG, Renner JB, Luta G, Dragomir AD, Woodard J, et al. Prevalence of knee symptoms and radiographic and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis in African Americans and Caucasians: the Johnston County Osteoarthritis Project. J Rheumatol. 2007 Jan;34(1):172–80.
- 53. Li D, Li S, Chen Q, Xie X. The Prevalence of Symptomatic Knee Osteoarthritis in Relation to Age, Sex, Area, Region, and Body Mass Index in China: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Med (Lausanne). 2020;7:304.
- 54. Kingsbury SR, Gross HJ, Isherwood G, Conaghan PG. Osteoarthritis in Europe: impact on health status, work productivity and use of pharmacotherapies in five European countries. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2014 May;53(5):937–47.

- 55. Stewart WF, Ricci JA, Chee E, Morganstein D, Lipton R. Lost productive time and cost due to common pain conditions in the US workforce. JAMA. 2003 Nov 12;290(18):2443–54.
- 56. Li X, Gignac MA, Anis AH. The indirect costs of arthritis resulting from unemployment, reduced performance, and occupational changes while at work. Med Care. 2006 Apr;44(4):304–10.
- 57. Zhao X, Shah D, Gandhi K, Wei W, Dwibedi N, Webster L, et al. Clinical, humanistic, and economic burden of osteoarthritis among noninstitutionalized adults in the United States. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2019 Nov;27(11):1618–26.
- 58. Hubertsson J, Petersson IF, Thorstensson CA, Englund M. Risk of sick leave and disability pension in working-age women and men with knee osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013 Mar;72(3):401–5.
- 59. World Health Organization. International classification of functioning, disability and health : ICF [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2001 [cited 2022 Jun 23]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42407
- 60. Weigl M, Wild H. European validation of The Comprehensive International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health Core Set for Osteoarthritis from the perspective of patients with osteoarthritis of the knee or hip. Disabil Rehabil. 2018 Dec;40(26):3104–12.
- 61. Hunter DJ, McDougall JJ, Keefe FJ. The symptoms of osteoarthritis and the genesis of pain. Med Clin North Am. 2009 Jan;93(1):83–100, xi.
- 62. Hawker GA, Stewart L, French MR, Cibere J, Jordan JM, March L, et al. Understanding the pain experience in hip and knee osteoarthritis--an OARSI/OMERACT initiative. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2008 Apr;16(4):415–22.
- 63. Guccione AA, Felson DT, Anderson JJ, Anthony JM, Zhang Y, Wilson PW, et al. The effects of specific medical conditions on the functional limitations of elders in the Framingham Study. Am J Public Health. 1994 Mar;84(3):351–8.
- Clynes MA, Jameson KA, Edwards MH, Cooper C, Dennison EM. Impact of osteoarthritis on activities of daily living: does joint site matter? Aging Clin Exp Res. 2019 Aug;31(8):1049–56.
- 65. Holla JFM, van der Leeden M, Knol DL, Roorda LD, Hilberdink WKHA, Lems WF, et al. Predictors and outcome of pain-related avoidance of activities in persons with early symptomatic knee osteoarthritis: a five-year followup study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2015 Jan;67(1):48–57.
- 66. Gooberman-Hill R, French M, Dieppe P, Hawker G. Expressing pain and fatigue: A new method of analysis to explore differences in osteoarthritis experience. Arthritis Rheum. 2009 Mar 15;61(3):353–60.
- Roos EM, Grønne DT, Thorlund JB, Skou ST. Knee and hip osteoarthritis are more alike than different in baseline characteristics and outcomes: a longitudinal study of 32,599 patients participating in supervised education and exercise therapy. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2022 May;30(5):681–8.
- 68. Bieleman HJ, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Oosterveld FG, Reneman MF, Verhagen AP, Groothoff JW. The effect of osteoarthritis of the hip or knee on work participation. The Journal of rheumatology. 2011 Sep;38(9):1835–43.

- 69. Agaliotis M, Fransen M, Bridgett L, Nairn L, Votrubec M, Jan S, et al. Risk factors associated with reduced work productivity among people with chronic knee pain. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2013 Sep;21(9):1160–9.
- 70. Nakata K, Tsuji T, Vietri J, Jaffe DH. Work impairment, osteoarthritis, and healthrelated quality of life among employees in Japan. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2018 Apr 17;16(1):64.
- 71. Kanavaki AM, Rushton A, Efstathiou N, Alrushud A, Klocke R, Abhishek A, et al. Barriers and facilitators of physical activity in knee and hip osteoarthritis: a systematic review of qualitative evidence. BMJ Open. 2017 Dec 26;7(12):e017042.
- 72. Chen YT, Murphy SL. Associations of Coexisting Pain and Fatigue Severity with Physical Performance and Quality of Life among Middle-Aged and Older Individuals with Chronic Knee Pain: A randomized controlled trial. Pain Med. 2021 Mar 27;pnab115.
- 73. Statens beredning för medicinsk och social utvärdering (SBU. Arbetsmiljöns betydelse för artrosbesvär. En systematisk översikt och utvärdering av medicinska, sociala och etiska aspekter. Stockholm: 2016. Stockholm; Report No.: SBU-rapport nr 253. ISBN 978-91-85413-96-6.
- Lastowiecka E, Bugajska J, Najmiec A, Rell-Bakalarska M, Bownik I, Jedryka-Goral A. Occupational work and quality of life in osteoarthritis patients. Rheumatology International. 2006 Dec;27(2):131–9.
- 75. Vaughan MW, Felson DT, LaValley MP, Orsmond GI, Niu J, Lewis CE, et al. Perceived Community Environmental Factors and Risk of Five-Year Participation Restriction Among Older Adults With or at Risk of Knee Osteoarthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2017 Jul;69(7):952–8.
- 76. Al-Khlaifat L, Okasheh R, Muhaidat J, Hawamdeh ZM, Qutishat D, Al-Yahya E, et al. Knowledge of Knee Osteoarthritis and Its Impact on Health in the Middle East: Are They Different to Countries in the Developed World? A Qualitative Study. Rehabil Res Pract. 2020;2020:9829825.
- 77. Stucki G, Ewert T. How to assess the impact of arthritis on the individual patient: the WHO ICF. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005 May 1;64(5):664.
- 78. Swain S, Sarmanova A, Coupland C, Doherty M, Zhang W. Comorbidities in Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2020 Jul;72(7):991–1000.
- 79. Hall AJ, Stubbs B, Mamas MA, Myint PK, Smith TO. Association between osteoarthritis and cardiovascular disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2016 Jun;23(9):938–46.
- 80. Macêdo MB, Santos VMOS, Pereira RMR, Fuller R. Association between osteoarthritis and atherosclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Exp Gerontol. 2022 May;161:111734.
- 81. Wang ST, Ni GX. Depression in Osteoarthritis: Current Understanding. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2022;18:375–89.
- 82. Gustafsson K, Kvist J, Eriksson M, Dell'Isola A, Zhou C, Dahlberg LE, et al. Health status of individuals referred to first-line intervention for hip and knee osteoarthritis

compared with the general population: an observational register-based study. BMJ Open. 2021 Sep 13;11(9):e049476.

- 83. Calders P, Van Ginckel A. Presence of comorbidities and prognosis of clinical symptoms in knee and/or hip osteoarthritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2018 Jun;47(6):805–13.
- 84. Veronese N, Cereda E, Maggi S, Luchini C, Solmi M, Smith T, et al. Osteoarthritis and mortality: A prospective cohort study and systematic review with meta-analysis. Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism. 2016;46(2):160–7.
- 85. Xing D, Xu Y, Liu Q, Ke Y, Wang B, Li Z, et al. Osteoarthritis and all-cause mortality in worldwide populations: grading the evidence from a meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2016 Apr 18;6:24393.
- Leyland KM, Gates LS, Sanchez-Santos MT, Nevitt MC, Felson D, Jones G, et al. Knee osteoarthritis and time-to all-cause mortality in six community-based cohorts: an international meta-analysis of individual participant-level data. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2021 Feb 15;
- 87. Wittenauer R, Smith L, Aden K. Background Paper 6.12 Osteoarthritis WHO. 2013.
- 88. Dantas LO, Salvini T de F, McAlindon TE. Knee osteoarthritis: key treatments and implications for physical therapy. Braz J Phys Ther. 2021 Apr;25(2):135–46.
- Grady PA, Gough LL. Self-Management: A Comprehensive Approach to Management of Chronic Conditions. Am J Public Health. 2014 Aug;104(8):e25–31.
- 90. Oral A, Arman S, Tarakci E, Patrini M, Arienti C, Etemadi Y, et al. A systematic review of clinical practice guidelines for persons with osteoarthritis. A 'Best Evidence for Rehabilitation' (be4rehab) paper to develop the WHO's Package of Interventions for Rehabilitation: A systematic review of Clinical Practice Guidelines for persons with osteoarthritis for the identification of best evidence for rehabilitation. Int J Rheum Dis. 2022 Apr;25(4):383–93.
- 91. Bannuru RR, Osani MC, Vaysbrot EE, Arden NK, Bennell K, Bierma-Zeinstra SMA, et al. OARSI guidelines for the non-surgical management of knee, hip, and polyarticular osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2019 Nov;27(11):1578–89.
- 92. Thorstensson CA, Garellick G, Rystedt H, Dahlberg LE. Better Management of Patients with Osteoarthritis: Development and Nationwide Implementation of an Evidence-Based Supported Osteoarthritis Self-Management Programme. Musculoskeletal Care. 2015 Jun;13(2):67–75.
- Skou ST, Roos EM. Good Life with osteoArthritis in Denmark (GLA:DTM): evidence-based education and supervised neuromuscular exercise delivered by certified physiotherapists nationwide. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders. 2017 Feb 7;18(1):72.
- 94. Limbäck Svensson G, Wetterling K. BOA-registret. Årsrapport 2019 [Internet]. [cited 2022 Jun 27]. Available from: https://registercentrum.blob.core.windows.net/boa/r/BOA-arsrapport-2019rkgjznTaNw.pdf

- 95. Limbäck Svensson G, Abbott A, Wetterling K. BOA-registret. BOA:s årsrapport 2018 [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Jun 27]. Available from: https://boa.registercentrum.se/om-boa-registret/boas-arsrapporter/p/Sy8Qc4x-l
- 96. Dahlberg LE, Dell'Isola A, Lohmander LS, Nero H. Improving osteoarthritis care by digital means Effects of a digital self-management program after 24- or 48-weeks of treatment. PLoS One. 2020;15(3):e0229783.
- 97. Tian H, Huang L, Sun M, Xu G, He J, Zhou Z, et al. Acupuncture for Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review of Randomized Clinical Trials with Meta-Analyses and Trial Sequential Analyses. Biomed Res Int. 2022;2022:6561633.
- 98. Manheimer E, Cheng K, Wieland LS, Shen X, Lao L, Guo M, et al. Acupuncture for hip osteoarthritis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018 May 5;5:CD013010.
- 99. Zhang W, Moskowitz RW, Nuki G, Abramson S, Altman RD, Arden N, et al. OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis, Part II: OARSI evidence-based, expert consensus guidelines. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2008 Feb;16(2):137–62.
- 100. Katz JN, Arant KR, Loeser RF. Diagnosis and Treatment of Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis: A Review. JAMA. 2021 Feb 9;325(6):568–78.
- Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep. 1985;100(2):126–31.
- 102. Mattsson CM, Lundberg T, Jansson E, Hagströmer M. 1.2 Fysisk aktivitet begrepp och principer. In: Yrkesföreningar för Fysisk Aktivitet (YFA) Dohrn IM, Jansson, E, Börjesson M, Hagströmer M, red Fysisk aktivitet i sjukdomsprevention och sjukdomsbehandling, FYSS 2021. Stockholm; 2021.
- 103. 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee. 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Scientific Report. PART C. BACKGROUND AND KEY PHYSICAL ACTIVITY CONCEPTS [Internet]. Washington DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.; 2018. Available from: https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-09/04 C Background and Key Physical Activity Concepts.pdf
- 104. Pate RR, Pratt M, Blair SN, Haskell WL, Macera CA, Bouchard C, et al. Physical activity and public health. A recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine. JAMA. 1995 Feb 1;273(5):402–7.
- 105. Morris JN, Heady JA, Raffle PA, Roberts CG, Parks JW. Coronary heart-disease and physical activity of work. Lancet. 1953 Nov 21;262(6795):1053–7.
- 106. Morris JN, Heady JA, Raffle PA, Roberts CG, Parks JW. Coronary heart-disease and physical activity of work. Lancet. 1953 Nov 28;262(6796):1111–20; concl.
- 107. Pedersen BK, Febbraio MA. Muscle as an endocrine organ: focus on muscle-derived interleukin-6. Physiol Rev. 2008 Oct;88(4):1379–406.
- 108. Das DK, Graham ZA, Cardozo CP. Myokines in skeletal muscle physiology and metabolism: Recent advances and future perspectives. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2020 Feb;228(2):e13367.

- 109. Lin CY, Chen PC, Kuo HK, Lin LY, Lin JW, Hwang JJ. Effects of obesity, physical activity, and cardiorespiratory fitness on blood pressure, inflammation, and insulin resistance in the National Health and Nutrition Survey 1999–2002. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases. 2010 Dec;20(10):713–9.
- 110. Plaisance EP, Grandjean PW. Physical activity and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein. Sports Med. 2006;36(5):443–58.
- 111. Burini RC, Anderson E, Durstine JL, Carson JA. Inflammation, physical activity, and chronic disease: An evolutionary perspective. Sports Medicine and Health Science. 2020 Mar 1;2(1):1–6.
- 112. Jansson E, Dohrn IM, Börjesson M, Hagströmer M, Yrkesföreningar för fysisk aktivitet, editors. FYSS 2021: fysisk aktivitet i sjukdomsprevention och sjukdomsbehandling. 4., rev. uppl. Stockholm: Läkartidningen förlag AB; 2021. 500 p.
- Thompson PD, Crouse SF, Goodpaster B, Kelley D, Moyna N, Pescatello L. The acute versus the chronic response to exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2001 Jun;33(6 Suppl):S438-445; discussion S452-453.
- 114. Bull FC, Al-Ansari SS, Biddle S, Borodulin K, Buman MP, Cardon G, et al. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Br J Sports Med. 2020 Dec;54(24):1451–62.
- 115. Wang Y, Xu D. Effects of aerobic exercise on lipids and lipoproteins. Lipids in Health and Disease. 2017 Jul 5;16(1):132.
- 116. Sun HB. Mechanical loading, cartilage degradation, and arthritis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010 Nov;1211:37–50.
- 117. Hinterwimmer S, Krammer M, Krötz M, Glaser C, Baumgart R, Reiser M, et al. Cartilage atrophy in the knees of patients after seven weeks of partial load bearing. Arthritis Rheum. 2004 Aug;50(8):2516–20.
- 118. Vanwanseele B, Lucchinetti E, Stüssi E. The effects of immobilization on the characteristics of articular cartilage: current concepts and future directions. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2002 May;10(5):408–19.
- 119. Takahashi I, Matsuzaki T, Kuroki H, Hoso M. Disuse Atrophy of Articular Cartilage Induced by Unloading Condition Accelerates Histological Progression of Osteoarthritis in a Post-traumatic Rat Model. Cartilage. 2021 Dec;13(2_suppl):1522S-1529S.
- 120. Voinier D, Neogi T, Stefanik JJ, Guermazi A, Roemer FW, Thoma LM, et al. Using Cumulative Load to Explain How Body Mass Index and Daily Walking Relate to Worsening Knee Cartilage Damage Over Two Years: The MOST Study. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2020 Jun;72(6):957–65.
- 121. Rausch Osthoff AK, Niedermann K, Braun J, Adams J, Brodin N, Dagfinrud H, et al. 2018 EULAR recommendations for physical activity in people with inflammatory arthritis and osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018 Sep 1;77(9):1251.
- 122. Fransen M, Simic M, Harmer AR. Determinants of MSK health and disability: lifestyle determinants of symptomatic osteoarthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2014 Jun;28(3):435–60.

- 123. Kraus VB, Sprow K, Powell KE, Buchner D, Bloodgood B, Piercy K, et al. Effects of Physical Activity in Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Umbrella Review. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 2019 Jun;51(6):1324–39.
- 124. Roos E, Lund H, Bogh Juhl C. Diagnosspecifika rekommendationer i FYSS. 2.3 Artros. In: Yrkesföreningar för Fysisk Aktivitet (YFA) Dohrn IM, Jansson E, Börjesson M, Hagströmer M, red Fysisk aktivitet i sjukdomsprevention och sjukdomsbehandling, FYSS 2021. Stockholm: Läkartidningen förlag AB; 2021.
- 125. Bandak E, Christensen R, Overgaard A, Kristensen LE, Ellegaard K, Guldberg-Møller J, et al. Exercise and education versus saline injections for knee osteoarthritis: a randomised controlled equivalence trial. Ann Rheum Dis. 2022 Apr;81(4):537–43.
- 126. Thorlund JB, Simic M, Pihl K, Berthelsen DB, Day R, Koes B, et al. Similar Effects of Exercise Therapy, Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs, and Opioids for Knee Osteoarthritis Pain: A Systematic Review with Network Meta-analysis. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2022 Apr;52(4):207–16.
- 127. Simic M, Harmer AR, Agaliotis M, Nairn L, Bridgett L, March L, et al. Clinical risk factors associated with radiographic osteoarthritis progression among people with knee pain: a longitudinal study. Arthritis Res Ther. 2021 Jun 4;23(1):160.
- 128. Skou ST, Pedersen BK, Abbott JH, Patterson B, Barton C. Physical activity and exercise therapy benefit more than just symptoms and impairments in people with hip and knee osteoarthritis. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy. 2018;48(6):439–47.
- Tudor-Locke C, Leonardi C, Johnson WD, Katzmarzyk PT, Church TS. Accelerometer steps/day translation of moderate-to-vigorous activity. Prev Med. 2011 Aug;53(1–2):31–3.
- 130. White DK, Tudor-Locke C, Zhang Y, Fielding R, LaValley M, Felson DT, et al. Daily walking and the risk of incident functional limitation in knee osteoarthritis: an observational study. Arthritis care & research. 2014 Sep;66(9):1328–36.
- 131. Del Pozo Cruz B, Gallardo-Gomez D, Del Pozo-Cruz J, Ding D. How many steps a day to reduce the risk of all-cause mortality? A dose-response meta-analysis. J Intern Med. 2022 Apr;291(4):519–21.
- Hamer M, Blodgett JM, Stamatakis E. Dose-response association between step count and cardiovascular disease risk markers in middle-aged adults. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2022 Jul;32(7):1161–5.
- 133. Wallis JA, Webster KE, Levinger P, Taylor NF. What proportion of people with hip and knee osteoarthritis meet physical activity guidelines? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2013 Nov;21(11):1648–59.
- 134. Thoma LM, Dunlop D, Song J, Lee J, Tudor-Locke C, Aguiar EJ, et al. Are Older Adults With Symptomatic Knee Osteoarthritis Less Active Than the General Population? Analysis From the Osteoarthritis Initiative and the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Arthritis Care and Research. 2018;70(10):1448–54.
- 135. Chang AH, Song J, Lee J, Chang RW, Semanik PA, Dunlop DD. Proportion and associated factors of meeting the 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans in adults with or at risk for knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2020 Mar 18;

- 136. Herbolsheimer F, Schaap LA, Edwards MH, Maggi S, Otero Á, Timmermans EJ, et al. Physical Activity Patterns Among Older Adults With and Without Knee Osteoarthritis in Six European Countries. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2016 Feb;68(2):228–36.
- 137. Oliveira CB, Franco MR, Maher CG, Christine Lin CW, Morelhão PK, Araújo AC, et al. Physical Activity Interventions for Increasing Objectively Measured Physical Activity Levels in Patients With Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: A Systematic Review. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2016 Dec;68(12):1832–42.
- 138. Booth G, Howarth A, Stubbs B, Ussher M. The Effectiveness of Interventions and Intervention Components for Increasing Physical Activity and Reducing Sedentary Behaviour in People With Persistent Musculoskeletal Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Pain. 2022 Jun;23(6):929–57.
- 139. Greaves CJ, Sheppard KE, Abraham C, Hardeman W, Roden M, Evans PH, et al. Systematic review of reviews of intervention components associated with increased effectiveness in dietary and physical activity interventions. BMC Public Health. 2011 Feb 18;11:119.
- 140. Bishop FL, Fenge-Davies AL, Kirby S, Geraghty AWA. Context effects and behaviour change techniques in randomised trials: a systematic review using the example of trials to increase adherence to physical activity in musculoskeletal pain. Psychol Health. 2015 Jan;30(1):104–21.
- 141. Nicolson PJA, Bennell KL, Dobson FL, Van Ginckel A, Holden MA, Hinman RS. Interventions to increase adherence to therapeutic exercise in older adults with low back pain and/or hip/knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2017 May;51(10):791–9.
- 142. Willett M, Duda J, Fenton S, Gautrey C, Greig C, Rushton A. Effectiveness of behaviour change techniques in physiotherapy interventions to promote physical activity adherence in lower limb osteoarthritis patients: A systematic review. PLoS One. 2019;14(7):e0219482.
- 143. Eisele A, Schagg D, Krämer LV, Bengel J, Göhner W. Behaviour change techniques applied in interventions to enhance physical activity adherence in patients with chronic musculoskeletal conditions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Patient Educ Couns. 2019 Jan;102(1):25–36.
- 144. Michie S, Wood CE, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis JJ, Hardeman W. Behaviour change techniques: the development and evaluation of a taxonomic method for reporting and describing behaviour change interventions (a suite of five studies involving consensus methods, randomised controlled trials and analysis of qualitative data). Health Technol Assess. 2015 Nov;19(99):1–188.
- 145. Michie S, Abraham C, Whittington C, McAteer J, Gupta S. Effective techniques in healthy eating and physical activity interventions: A meta-regression. Health Psychology. 2009;28(6):690–701.
- 146. Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis J, Hardeman W, et al. The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. Ann Behav Med. 2013 Aug;46(1):81–95.

- 147. Taj F, Klein MCA, van Halteren A. Digital Health Behavior Change Technology: Bibliometric and Scoping Review of Two Decades of Research. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2019 Dec 13;7(12):e13311.
- 148. WHO Global Observatory for eHealth. mHealth: new horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2011 [cited 2022 Jan 10]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44607
- 149. Yang CC, Hsu YL. A review of accelerometry-based wearable motion detectors for physical activity monitoring. Sensors (Basel). 2010;10(8):7772–88.
- 150. Hoy MB. Personal Activity Trackers and the Quantified Self. Medical Reference Services Quarterly. 2016 Jan 2;35(1):94–100.
- Bassett DR, Toth LP, LaMunion SR, Crouter SE. Step Counting: A Review of Measurement Considerations and Health-Related Applications. Sports Med. 2017;47(7):1303–15.
- 152. Chen KY, Bassett DR. The technology of accelerometry-based activity monitors: current and future. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2005 Nov;37(11 Suppl):S490-500.
- 153. Mercer K, Li M, Giangregorio L, Burns C, Grindrod K. Behavior Change Techniques Present in Wearable Activity Trackers: A Critical Analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2016 Apr 27;4(2):e40.
- 154. Chia GLC, Anderson A, McLean LA. Behavior Change Techniques Incorporated in Fitness Trackers: Content Analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2019 23;7(7):e12768.
- 155. Shin G, Jarrahi MH, Fei Y, Karami A, Gafinowitz N, Byun A, et al. Wearable activity trackers, accuracy, adoption, acceptance and health impact: A systematic literature review. Journal of Biomedical Informatics. 2019 May 1;93:103153.
- 156. Li C, Chen X, Bi X. Wearable activity trackers for promoting physical activity: A systematic meta-analytic review. Int J Med Inform. 2021 Aug;152:104487.
- 157. Ringeval M, Wagner G, Denford J, Paré G, Kitsiou S. Fitbit-Based Interventions for Healthy Lifestyle Outcomes: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of medical Internet research. 2020 Oct 12;22(10):e23954.
- 158. Oliveira S J, Sherrington C, Zheng R Y E, Franco MR, Tiedemann A. Effect of interventions using physical activity trackers on physical activity in people aged 60 years and over: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2020 Oct;54(20):1188–94.
- 159. Brickwood KJ, Watson G, O'Brien J, Williams AD. Consumer-Based Wearable Activity Trackers Increase Physical Activity Participation: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2019;7(4):e11819.
- 160. Franssen WMA, Franssen GHLM, Spaas J, Solmi F, Eijnde BO. Can consumer wearable activity tracker-based interventions improve physical activity and cardiometabolic health in patients with chronic diseases? A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity. 2020 May 11;17(1):57.
- 161. Laranjo L, Ding D, Heleno B, Kocaballi B, Quiroz JC, Tong HL, et al. Do smartphone applications and activity trackers increase physical activity in adults? Systematic review, meta-analysis and metaregression. Br J Sports Med. 2020 Dec 21;

- 162. Ashur C, Cascino TM, Lewis C, Townsend W, Sen A, Pekmezi D, et al. Do Wearable Activity Trackers Increase Physical Activity Among Cardiac Rehabilitation Participants? A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND META-ANALYSIS. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2021 Jul 1;41(4):249–56.
- 163. Davergne T, Pallot A, Dechartres A, Fautrel B, Gossec L. Use of Wearable Activity Trackers to Improve Physical Activity Behavior in Patients With Rheumatic and Musculoskeletal Diseases: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019 Jun;71(6):758–67.
- 164. Glynn LG, Hayes PS, Casey M, Glynn F, Alvarez-Iglesias A, Newell J, et al. Effectiveness of a smartphone application to promote physical activity in primary care: the SMART MOVE randomised controlled trial. Br J Gen Pract. 2014 Jul;64(624):e384-391.
- 165. Bjerre-Bastos JJ, Karsdal MA, Boesen M, Bliddal H, Bay-Jensen AC, Andersen JR, et al. The acute and long-term impact of physical activity on biochemical markers and MRI measures in osteoarthritis—Perspectives for clinical osteoarthritis research. Translational Sports Medicine. 2020 Sep 1;3(5):384–94.
- 166. BankID [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 1]. Available from: https://www.bankid.com/en/
- 167. Thorstensson CA, Bergsten C. BOA-registret Årsrapport 2015 [Internet]. Available from: https://registercentrum.blob.core.windows.net/boa/r/BOA-rsrapport-2015-f-rutskrift-SyhOExDZe.pdf
- 168. Gill SL. Qualitative Sampling Methods. J Hum Lact. 2020 Nov;36(4):579-81.
- Schulz KF. CONSORT 2010 Statement: Updated Guidelines for Reporting Parallel Group Randomized Trials. Ann Intern Med. 2010 Jun 1;152(11):726.
- 170. Fitbit. Fitbit Web API [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Aug 18]. Available from: https://dev.fitbit.com/build/reference/web-api/activity/
- 171. Fitbit. Fitbit help article [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Aug 18]. Available from: https://help.fitbit.com/articles/en_US/Help_article/1379.htm
- 172. Alharbi M, Bauman A, Neubeck L, Gallagher R. Validation of Fitbit-Flex as a measure of free-living physical activity in a community-based phase III cardiac rehabilitation population. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2016 Sep;23(14):1476–85.
- 173. Chu AHY, Ng SHX, Paknezhad M, Gauterin A, Koh D, Brown MS, et al. Comparison of wrist-worn Fitbit Flex and waist-worn ActiGraph for measuring steps in free-living adults. PLoS One. 2017;12(2):e0172535–e0172535.
- 174. Reid RER, Insogna JA, Carver TE, Comptour AM, Bewski NA, Sciortino C, et al. Validity and reliability of Fitbit activity monitors compared to ActiGraph GT3X+ with female adults in a free-living environment. J Sci Med Sport. 2017 Jun;20(6):578–82.
- 175. Nilsdotter AK, Lohmander LS, Klässbo M, Roos EM. Hip disability and osteoarthritis outcome score (HOOS)--validity and responsiveness in total hip replacement. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2003;4:10–10.
- 176. Roos EM, Lohmander LS. The Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): from joint injury to osteoarthritis. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2003;1:64–64.

- 177. KOOS/HOOS manuals [Internet]. [cited 2021 Oct 13]. Available from: http://www.koos.nu
- 178. Thorborg K, Roos EM, Bartels EM, Petersen J, Hölmich P. Validity, reliability and responsiveness of patient-reported outcome questionnaires when assessing hip and groin disability: a systematic review. British journal of sports medicine. 2010;44(16):1186.
- 179. Collins NJ, Prinsen CAC, Christensen R, Bartels EM, Terwee CB, Roos EM. Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): systematic review and metaanalysis of measurement properties. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2016 Aug 1;24(8):1317–29.
- Ilmarinen J. The Work Ability Index (WAI). Occupational Medicine. 2007 Mar 1;57(2):160–160.
- 181. Tuomi K. Work ability index. Helsinki: Institut of Occupational Health; 1998.
- Lundin A, Leijon O, Vaez M, Hallgren M, Torgen M. Predictive validity of the Work Ability Index and its individual items in the general population. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2017 Jun;45(4):350–6.
- 183. de Zwart BCH, Frings-Dresen MHW, van Duivenbooden JC. Test-retest reliability of the Work Ability Index questionnaire. Occup Med (Lond). 2002 Jun;52(4):177–81.
- 184. Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjostrom M, Bauman AE, Booth ML, Ainsworth BE, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 2003 Aug;35(8):1381–95.
- 185. Reilly MC, Zbrozek AS, Dukes EM. The Validity and Reproducibility of a Work Productivity and Activity Impairment Instrument. PharmacoEconomics. 1993 Nov 1;4(5):353–65.
- 186. The IPAQ group. IPAQ scoring protocol [Internet]. [cited 2021 Jun 4]. Available from: https://docs.google.com/viewer?a=v&pid=sites&srcid=ZGVmYXVsdGRvbWFpbnx 0aGVpcGFxfGd4OjE0NDgxMDk3NDU1YWRIZTM
- 187. Reilly associates. WPAI General Information [Internet]. [cited 2021 Jun 4]. Available from: http://www.reillyassociates.net/WPAI_General.html
- 188. Krueger RA. Focus Groups: A Practical Guide for Applied Research. SAGE Publications; 2014. 281 p.
- 189. Larsson S, Lohmander LS, Struglics A. An ARGS-aggrecan assay for analysis in blood and synovial fluid. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2014 Feb;22(2):242–9.
- 190. Xiang L, Low AHL, Leung YY, Fong W, Gan WH, Graves N, et al. Work disability in rheumatic diseases: Baseline results from an inception cohort. Int J Rheum Dis. 2020 Aug;23(8):1040–9.
- 191. Norman GR, Sloan JA, Wyrwich KW. Interpretation of Changes in Health-Related Quality of Life: The Remarkable Universality of Half a Standard Deviation. Medical Care. 2003;41(5):582–92.
- 192. Ritz C. Statistical Analysis of Continuous Outcomes from Parallel-Arm Randomized Controlled Trials in Nutrition-a Tutorial. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2021 Jan;75(1):160–71.

- 193. Van Breukelen GJ. ANCOVA versus change from baseline: more power in randomized studies, more bias in nonrandomized studies [corrected]. J Clin Epidemiol. 2006 Sep;59(9):920–5.
- 194. Elo S, Kyngas H. The qualitative content analysis process. J Adv Nurs. 2008 Apr;62(1):107–15.
- 195. Leese J, Macdonald GG, Tran BC, Wong R, Backman CL, Townsend AF, et al. Using Physical Activity Trackers in Arthritis Self-Management: A Qualitative Study of Patient and Rehabilitation Professional Perspectives. Arthritis Care and Research. 2019;71(2):227–36.
- 196. World Medical Association. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA. 2013 Nov 27;310(20):2191–4.
- 197. Compton SE, Larson MJ, LeCheminant JD, Tucker LA, Bailey BW. The effects of daily step goals of 10,000, 12,500, and 15,000 steps per day on neural activity to food cues: A 24-week dose-response randomized trial. Brain Behav. 2022 May;12(5):e2590.
- 198. Song J, Chang AH, Chang RW, Lee J, Pinto D, Hawker G, et al. Relationship of knee pain to time in moderate and light physical activities: Data from Osteoarthritis Initiative. Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism. 2018 Apr;47(5):683–8.
- 199. Dunlop DD, Song J, Lee J, Gilbert AL, Semanik PA, Ehrlich-Jones L, et al. Physical Activity Minimum Threshold Predicting Improved Function in Adults With Lower-Extremity Symptoms. Arthritis care & research. 2017 Apr;69(4):475–83.
- 200. Dore DA, Winzenberg TM, Ding C, Otahal P, Pelletier JP, Martel-Pelletier J, et al. The association between objectively measured physical activity and knee structural change using MRI. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2013 Jul;72(7):1170–5.
- 201. Bricca A, Juhl CB, Grodzinsky AJ, Roos EM. Impact of a daily exercise dose on knee joint cartilage a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials in healthy animals. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2017 Aug;25(8):1223–37.
- 202. Ilmarinen J, Tuomi K, Klockars M. Changes in the work ability of active employees over an 11-year period. Scand J Work Environ Health. 1997;23 Suppl 1:49–57.
- 203. Johansson G, Lundberg I. Adjustment latitude and attendance requirements as determinants of sickness absence or attendance. Empirical tests of the illness flexibility model. Soc Sci Med. 2004 May;58(10):1857–68.
- 204. Solovieva S, Kontio T, Viikari-Juntura E. Occupation, Physical Workload Factors, and Disability Retirement as a Result of Hip Osteoarthritis in Finland, 2005–2013. J Rheumatol. 2018 Apr 1;45(4):555.
- 205. Kontio T, Viikari-Juntura E, Solovieva S. To what extent do education and physical work load factors explain occupational differences in disability retirement due to knee OA? A nationwide register-based study in Finland. BMJ Open. 2019 Feb 22;8(11):e023057.
- 206. van den Berg TIJ, Elders LAM, de Zwart BCH, Burdorf A. The effects of workrelated and individual factors on the Work Ability Index: a systematic review. Occupational and Environmental Medicine. 2008 Nov 18;66(4):211–20.

- 207. Paxton RJ, Forster JE, Miller MJ, Gerron KL, Stevens-Lapsley JE, Christiansen CL. A Feasibility Study for Improved Physical Activity After Total Knee Arthroplasty. J Aging Phys Act. 2018;26(1):7–13.
- 208. Skrepnik N, Spitzer A, Altman R, Hoekstra J, Stewart J, Toselli R. Assessing the Impact of a Novel Smartphone Application Compared With Standard Follow-Up on Mobility of Patients With Knee Osteoarthritis Following Treatment With Hylan G-F 20: A Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2017 May 9;5(5):e64.
- 209. Dreher N, Hadeler EK, Hartman SJ, Wong EC, Acerbi I, Rugo HS, et al. Fitbit Usage in Patients With Breast Cancer Undergoing Chemotherapy. Clin Breast Cancer. 2019 Dec;19(6):443-449.e1.
- 210. Hermsen S, Moons J, Kerkhof P, Wiekens C, De Groot M. Determinants for Sustained Use of an Activity Tracker: Observational Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2017 Oct 30;5(10):e164.
- 211. Friel CP, Garber CE. Who Uses Wearable Activity Trackers and Why? A Comparison of Former and Current Users in the United States. Am J Health Promot. 2020 Sep;34(7):762–9.
- 212. Fisken AL, Waters DL, Hing WA, Keogh JW. Perceptions towards aqua-based exercise among older adults with osteoarthritis who have discontinued participation in this exercise mode: Osteoarthritis, aqua-based exercise. Australasian Journal on Ageing. 2016 Mar;35(1):12–7.
- Petursdottir U, Arnadottir SA, Halldorsdottir S. Facilitators and Barriers to Exercising Among People With Osteoarthritis: A Phenomenological Study. Physical Therapy. 2010 Jul 1;90(7):1014–25.
- 214. Evenson KR, Goto MM, Furberg RD. Systematic review of the validity and reliability of consumer-wearable activity trackers. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2015 Dec 18;12:159.
- 215. Brickwood KJ, Williams AD, Watson G, O'Brien J. Older adults' experiences of using a wearable activity tracker with health professional feedback over a 12-month randomised controlled trial. Digit Health. 2020 Dec;6:2055207620921678.
- 216. Belsi A, Papi E, McGregor AH. Impact of wearable technology on psychosocial factors of osteoarthritis management: a qualitative study. BMJ Open. 2016 Feb 3;6(2):e010064.
- Duong V, Hunter DJ, Nicolson PJA. Predictors and Measures of Adherence to Core Treatments for Osteoarthritis. Clinics in Geriatric Medicine. 2022 May 1;38(2):345– 60.
- Fedewa MV, Hathaway ED, Ward-Ritacco CL. Effect of exercise training on C reactive protein: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised and non-randomised controlled trials. British journal of sports medicine. 2017 Apr;51(8):670–6.
- 219. Bjerre-Bastos JJ. Evaluation of serum ARGS neoepitope as an osteoarthritis biomarker using a standardized model for exercise-induced cartilage extra cellular matrix turnover. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage Open. 2020 Jun 1;2(2):100060.
- 220. Hunt MA, Pollock CL, Kraus VB, Saxne T, Peters S, Huebner JL, et al. Relationships amongst osteoarthritis biomarkers, dynamic knee joint load, and

exercise: results from a randomized controlled pilot study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2013 Mar 27;14:115.

- 221. Simonovich S. The Value of Developing a Mixed-Methods Program of Research. Nurs Sci Q. 2017 Jul;30(3):201–4.
- 222. Mokhles S, Takkenberg JJ, Treasure T. Evidence-Based and Personalized Medicine. It's [AND] not [OR]. The Annals of Thoracic Surgery. 2017 Jan 1;103(1):351–60.
- 223. Rosenbaum PR. Interference between Units in Randomized Experiments. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 2007;102(477):191–200.
- 224. Björk J. Praktisk epidemiologi : för medicin, vård och folkhälsa. Stockholm: Liber; 2019.
- 225. Kirkwood BR, Sterne JAC, Kirkwood BR. Essential medical statistics. 2nd ed. Malden, Mass: Blackwell Science; 2003. 501 p.
- 226. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care. 2007 Dec;19(6):349–57.

Physical activity and Mobile Health among people with hip and knee osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis is an increasingly common joint disorder that affects individuals as well as the society at large. Physical activity is recommended as the core treatment in hip and knee osteoarthritis and is also important to prevent several common diseases. The usage of Mobile Health to promote physical activity and other health outcomes are novel and promising. This thesis increased the knowledge of the impact of Mobile Health and physical activity on work ability, health, and molecular biomarkers. It also explores experiences of Mobile Health in individuals of working age with hip and knee osteoarthritis.



Elin Östlind is a registered physiotherapist with a specialty in orthopedics and a master's degree in physiotherapy. She has worked in primary health care in Region Skåne since 2009. Parallel with the PhD studies, she has worked clinically as a physiotherapist and as a rehab coordinator. Elin has a broad experience of assessing and treating patients with musculoskeletal disorders, especially osteoarthritis. Since 2016, she has also worked with the Supported Osteoarthritis Self-management Programme.



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Health Sciences

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2022:125 ISBN 978-91-8021-287-8 ISSN 1652-8220

